# How to obtain social licences to operate for renewable energy projects

### A case study of Zonnepark Ameland



Master thesis Cultural Geography R. Bijlsma







Rutger Bijlsma (ing) S 3286533 Master Cultural Geography Faculty of Spatial Sciences Rijksuniversiteit Groningen Campus Fryslân r.bijlsma.2@student.rug.nl | rutgerbijlsma@outlook.com

Supervisor: prof. dr. F.M.D. (Frank) Vanclay









faculty of spatial sciences

#### Preface

"Geen draagvlak, dan geen zonnepark" (Omrop Fryslân, 2017). Translation: "No public acceptance, no solar farm", that is what the Councillor of the Municipality of Leeuwarden said about the controversies surrounding an initiative for a solar farm near the village of Wirdum in the north of the Netherlands. The people of Wirdum reportingly, were furious (Bosma, 2017). What could have happened here? The explanation was evident: the developers simply handed in their application of a 41-hectare solar farm without any form of consultation, participation or engagement in regard of the inhabitants of Wirdum (Omrop Fryslân, 2017). This case shows two sings that are important for this thesis. First, that governments are demanding more public participation in developments and that renewable energy projects need acceptance/approval from communities in order to gain legal licences. Second, it shows that without proper community engagement strategies, developers will not gain acceptance or approval from communities for their projects.

In my Bachelor, my Master and my work as a consultant, I have tried to find ways on how projects can obtain this acceptance and/or approval from communities. I am thankful that I could explore this in my thesis under the guidance of professor Vanclay. In the social licence to operate (SLO), I found a useful and practical concept that aided in this search. However, I could not have done this without the help some individuals. Of course I want to show my gratitude to mister Vanclay as my thesis supervisor, but I also want to thank multiple Amelanders who have helped me understand the case of Zonnepark Ameland. At last, I want to thank any other that has helped me in my search and work, especially Lotteke, Marijke, Avery, Aukje and Hylke.

#### Abstract

Considering that both renewable energy projects are increasing along with protests against these projects, the question arises how proponents can obtain acceptance and/or approval; social licences to operate, from communities for their projects. To find an answer a qualitative case study, containing interviews and document analyses, of a solar farm on Ameland was done based on a SLO framework. SLOs can be obtained on four levels, starting from withdrawal (no SLO) and increasing from acceptance to approval towards the highest level, psychological identification. These levels are divided by three boundaries, legitimacy, credibility and trustworthiness (Thomson & Boutilier, 2011). The case study shows that involvement of governments as proponents can hamper the perception of impartiality and therefore the acceptance of projects. However, local embeddedness of projects, achieved through local ownership and representation provided by local energy communities can increase levels of SLOs obtained. Main impacts caused by solar farms consists of impacts on landscape, nature and previous use(s) of the location. These impacts should be considered adequately to gain acceptance and avoid withdrawal of SLOs. Zonnepark Ameland also presents that context is an important factor that can influence SLOs, for instance because of a high contestedness of space. To gain acceptance and higher levels of SLOs, public participation should not be limited to some parts or phases of projects, rather participation should be provided throughout the whole project including the location choice. Additionally, community engagement strategies should include all relevant stakeholders within the, mostly local, communities. Important is that within these strategies marginalized groups also taken into account in order to improve and increase the levels of SLOs obtained.

Key words: Social licence to operate, renewable energy, community engagement, public participation, solar farms

Contents		
Introduction	. 1	
Literature review	. 3	
Introduction of the term social licence to operate	. 3	
Conceptual models of SLO	. 5	
Theoretical Framework 1	10	
Additional concepts related to SLO 1	13	
Methodology1	17	
Research approach1	17	
Selection of case1	17	
Research methods used 1	18	
Data analysis2	20	
Ethical considerations	20	
Background to the case study: An overview of Ameland and the Solarfarm	2	
The island of Ameland2	22	
Zonnepark Ameland, the airfield and AEC2	24	
Results	27	
Stakeholders and communities	27	
Legitimacy: from withheld to acceptance	29	
Social impacts	35	
Credibility: from acceptance to approval3	39	
Trust(worthiness): from approval to psychological identification	42	
Discussion: SLO outcomes	45	
Conclusion	47	
References	48	

#### Introduction

Globally, there is a rising trend in renewable energy projects (IEA, 2018), like solar photovoltaics, through increasing profitability (Bolinger & Steel, 2015; Krebs et al. 2013; Rehman & Bader, 2007; Ryan et al. 2016) and sense of urgency among governments to transition to more sustainable energy systems. This is for instance expressed in the Paris Agreement of the UN (United Nations, 2015). This trend is also discernible in the Netherlands, within the rise in production and demand of wind and solar energy (CBS, 2019), that is encompassed by an increase in solar farms<sup>1</sup> (CBS, 2019a). This increase sparks public debates about landscape (de Jong, 2019; van der Woude, 2018) and landownership (van Ruiten, 2017). Another debate that appears in renewable energy projects, like wind and solar energy, is about the lack of involvement and the lack of voice of provided for communities within the decision-making (Langbroek & Vanclay, 2012; Mulder, 2019; de Vries, 2017). In the case of solar farms, protests are mostly instigated by local residents near intended locations. This can be seen in examples in the Netherlands (Atsma, 2019; Leeuwarder Courant, 2018; Ramaker, 2019), but also in the rest of the world, for example the United States (Buntjer, 2018; Kelly, 2018), Nigeria (Daily Independent, 2017), Canada (Atkinson, 2018), England (Bason, 2013) and Ireland (Quinlan, 2017). These trends and debates are reasons for proponents to search for ways to gain acceptance or approval for their projects from communities; to gain a Social licence to operate (SLO). More involvement of local communities within decision-making is also one the central aims of the new Dutch spatial and environmental law, 'De Omgevingswet' (Informatiepunt Omgevingswet, 2019; Kamp, 2016; Kwast & Wesselink, 2016; Lammers & Arentsen, 2017; Ministerie van Binnenlandse Zaken en Koninkrijkrelaties, 2019). Renewable energy projects are being used, in precedence of this law, as pilots for new approaches and procedures with higher levels of community engagement and public participation (Kamp, 2016).

Research covering the SLO emerged in academia in the fields of mining and resource management (Bice, 2014; Kemp et al. 2011; Nelsen & Scoble, 2006; Owen & Kemp, 2013; Parsons et al. 2014; Prno, 2013; Prno & Slocombe, 2014; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011; Zhang et al. 2015) and later in forestry (Dare et al. 2014; Moffat et al. 2015). These fields have been broadened with renewable energy (Colton et al. 2016; Corscadden et al. 2012; Corvellec, 2007; Hall et al. 2015; Lansbury Hall & Jeanneret, 2015; Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Langbroek & Vanclay, 2012). However, only Colton et al. (2016) discuss the renewable energy source of solar energy. Academic interest is primarily focused on theorising the SLO or on providing frameworks for obtaining SLOs (Moffat & Zhang, 2014). Furthermore, case studies in the SLO literature are mostly about situations where SLOs were lacking (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Meesters & Behagel, 2017; Langbroek & Vanclay, 2012), although Prno & Slocombe (2014) and Jijelava and Vanclay (2017) are exceptions.

When considering both the increase in solar farms and the protest against them, the question arises how initiators can obtain SLOs from communities for their projects. By looking at the case of a solar farm on Ameland, called Zonnepark Ameland, a broader framework can be developed for ways to come to SLOs for renewable energy projects, especially for solar farms. Zonnepark Ameland makes a suitable case, because there were some debates regarding the project and, because the proponents did employ community engagement strategies. Analysing cases can provide information about how these community engagement strategies were organised, what and which actors were involved and how these processes led to obtention of SLOs or the opposite. Results of this study can serve as input for practice on how to engage with communities to obtain SLOs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A solar farm is a large-scale and land-based photovoltaic power installation. They are also referred to as solar parks (zonnepark in Dutch), solar ranches and utility-scale solar.

These aims can be translated into the following main question: 'How can renewable energy projects obtain social licences to operate?'. To answer this main question, a set of subquestions were developed: 1) How can social licences to operate be obtained?; 2) To what extent did the Zonnepark Ameland and its proponents obtained and maintained social licences to operate?; 3) What can be learned from the case of Zonnepark Ameland about obtaining SLOs for renewable energy projects?. The second subquestion is made up of a set of question based on SLO-literature:

- Who and what were stakeholders related to the project?
- To what extent were the project and its proponents seen as legitimate, credible and trustworthy?
- What social impacts were experienced by the stakeholders and how were these impacts managed by the proponents?
- How did the proponents engage with the communities and its stakeholders and to what extent was public participation provided to them?
- What were the decisive factors that led to the levels of SLOs obtained?

#### Outline

This thesis starts with a literature review on the SLO that covers a introduction of the SLO, four models of the SLO, and combines these models into a theoretical framework. Additional concepts related to SLO are also considered in this chapter. The second chapter contains the methodology with the methods taken and data used in this research. This is followed by a case description of Ameland and Zonnepark Ameland. The results come after this case description and start with a paragraph about the stakeholders and communities related to the case. This paragraph is followed by paragraphs analysing the three boundaries between the four levels of SLO, Legitimacy, Credibility and Trustworthiness. Additionally, social impacts are also considered between these paragraphs. The final chapters are made up of the discussion and conclusion.

#### Literature review

In this chapter the SLO is introduced with a description of the academic and industry interests, and reasons for the industry to adopt SLOs along with definitions and critiques on the concept. This is followed by a description of four models of the SLO from Thomson & Boutilier (2011) with adaptations of Jijelava & Vanclay (2017;2018), Moffat & Zhang (2014), Zhang et al. (2015), and Prno & Slocombe (2014). These models are combined to form a theoretical framework for the research. The last paragraphs consider additional concepts related to the SLO.

#### An introduction to the social licence to operate

In the late 1990s, the term SLO emerged in the mining industry in order to cope with social-political risk and risks of both financial and reputational damage caused by conflicts with local communities and societal stakeholders (Cooney, 2017). Cooney (2017) sees the SLO as a metaphor for the issue that not only legal licences are needed for projects, but also 'licences' should be obtained from the local communities and broader public. Academic interest in the concept of SLO also grew in fields related to extractive industries and natural resources (Bice, 2014; Joyce & Thomson, 2008; Kemp et al. 2011; Lacey et al. 2017; Moffat & Zhang, 2014; Nelsen & Scoble, 2006; Owen & Kemp, 2013; Parsons et al. 2014; Prno, 2013; Prno & Slocombe, 2014; Richert et al. 2015; Smith & Richards, 2015; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011; Zhang et al. 2015), but also other industries, such as forestry (Dare et al. 2014; Moffat et al. 2015), the paper industry (Gunningham et al. 2006), green initiatives and biodiversity projects (Vanclay, 2017) and renewable energy (Colton et al. 2016; Corscadden et al. 2012; Corvellec, 2007; Lansbury Hall & Jeanneret, 2015; Hall et al. 2015; Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Vanclay, 2017; van de Biezenbos, 2018). Although there are multiple definitions of the SLO, most contain similar re-occurring themes. Both Cooney (2017) and Thomson & Boutilier (2011) see SLOs as community support for companies and their local operations. Within SLOs, Thomson and Boutilier (2011) distinguish four different levels: withdrawal, where there is no SLO given, acceptance, when stakeholders merely accept the project, approval, when stakeholders benefit from the project, are involved in the decision-making and have a good relationship with the proponents, and psychological identification, that occurs when stakeholders identify themselves with the project. Further, Gunningham et al. (2006) describe the concept as the demands and expectations, that come from groups in the geographical vicinity of business activities, and how these are met. Similarly, Parsons & Moffat (2014) emphasize that SLOs encompass expectations from local communities, concerning both the impacts of activities of projects, as well as the conduct of their proponents, and how these expectations match with the actual outcomes. Conversely, other academics suggest that SLOs should not be limited to local communities, rather they should also consider other stakeholders (Jijelava and Vanclay, 2014; Joyce & Thomson, 2000; Prno & Slocombe, 2014), across different geographical levels (Dare et al., 2014; Prno & Slocombe, 2014) and across different social groups (Dare et al. 2014). SLOs should also not be considered as static licences that are only gained before projects. Rather, SLOs should be considered as dynamic licences that can change over time (Boutilier, 2014; Hall et al. 2012; Parsons et al. 2014; Owen & Kemp, 2013; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011). These aspects can be combined in a definition of SLOs as follows: A SLO is the acceptance or approval, from withdrawal to psychological identification, of varying local communities and other stakeholders related to projects, activities or developments and their proponents, that is continuously granted.

The adoption of the SLO is well established in extractive industries (Cooney, 2017; Franks & Cohen, 2012) and is emerging in the renewable energy industry (Hall et al. 2015; Lansbury Hall & Jeanneret, 2015). But what are reasons for projects for wanting to obtain SLOs from communities? In extractive and other heavy industries it is widely known that not gaining SLOs can result in significant financial loss (Davis & Franks, 2011; Franks et al. 2014; Gunningham et al. 2004; Henisz et al. 2014), limited access to resources (Thomson & Boutilier, 2011), loss in reputation and market value (Liroff et al., 2014) and layoff of projects (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018). SLOs thus effects overall business interest

(Demuijnck & Fasterling, 2016; Lansbury Hall & Jeanneret, 2015; van de Biezenbos, 2018). Obtaining SLOs can also make projects more resilient to socio-political instability. This is because, when broader acceptance of a project by different communities is already obtained, the likeliness that a project can continue under changing socio-political conditions increases (Boutilier et al. 2012; Cooney, 2017). Additionally, pressures from NGOs and the foreseeable tightening of regulations in the future are seen as reasons to obtain and maintain SLOs (Gunningham et al. 2006); or that current law and regulations are not enough to encompass the concerns, demands and contexts of local communities (Franks & Cohen, 2012; Prno, 2013; Prno and Slocombe, 2014; van de Biezenbos, 2018). Hall et al. (2015) and van de Biezenbos (2018) also state that proper community engagement can influence the issuance of formal licences in a positive way. Furthermore, the broader trend of local communities demanding and gaining more power within decision-making will strengthen the need for proponents to engage with communities in order to obtain and maintain SLOs (Pro and Slocombe, 2012; Smits et al., 2017).

Along with academic and industries' interest in SLOs, critique on the concept of SLO and the use of it by industries emerged. These critiques are for instance voiced concerning claim that the concept is almost solely used by companies to legitimize their practices (Meesters & Behagel, 2017; Parsons & Moffat, 2014; van de Biezenbos, 2018) and to uphold their reputation (Meesters & Behagel, 2017; Owen & Kemp, 2013; Parsons et al. 2014). Inadvertently, (a minority of) opposition can use the concept to hamper projects, on for example idealistic grounds (Owen & Kemp, 2013; van de Biezenbos, 2018). Another critique considers that, in practice, industries use SLOs to limit and silence opposition and therefore use the concept with the main objective to limit risk (Meesters & Behagel, 2017; Owen & Kemp, 2013). Multiple academics also find that the SLO is often used solely to manage local issues (Demuijnck & Fasterling, 2016; Meesters & Behagel, 2017; Parsons et al, 2014), instead of adhering to broader societal concerns (Parsons et al, 2014) and sustainable development objectives (Owen & Kemp, 2013). In contrast, Owen & Kemp (2013) claim that, what proponents provide for communities to obtain SLOs for their projects, largely does not comply with the requirements of these communities for granting SLOs (Owen & Kemp, 2013). Additionally, critiques are voiced about the engagement of marginalized groups. These groups are often not considered within the community engagement processes necessary for obtaining SLOs (Demuijnck & Fasterling, 2016; Meesters & Behagel, 2017: Owen & Kemp, 2013). Some academic also find that, because of the broad and intangible nature of the concept, it is not clear what requirements should be taken to obtain SLOs (Bice, 2014; Owen & Kemp, 2013; van de Biezenbos, 2018). This causes the initial aim, to empower local communities (Cooney, 2017; Prno & Slocombe, 2012), to fade (van de Biezenbos, 2018). Therefore, strategies for obtaining SLOs should not just be about managing local issue, reputation and risk. Rather, they should consist of emancipatory approaches (Parsons et al. 2014), through listening and responding to community expectations (Owen & Kemp, 2013) by making them full partners in governance of decision making (Meesters & Behagel, 2017).

## *Thomson & Boutilier (2011) and Jijelava & Vanclay (2017; 2018)*

Thomson & Boutilier (2011) propose a quantitative model of the SLO, displayed in Figure 1, that consists of four levels (withheld, acceptance, approval, and psychological identification) that represent the stances of different stakeholders within communities towards certain projects These levels are divided by three boundaries: legitimacy, credibility and trustworthiness. Jijelava and Vanclay (2017;2018) expanded this model and transformed it into a qualitative framework.



Figure 1. The model of SLO developed by Thomson & Boutilier (2011)

#### From Withheld to Acceptance: Legitimacy

Under the legitimacy boundary lies the level of withheld. In this stage there is an absence of legitimacy in the perception of a stakeholder, that will lead to a rejection of the project by that stakeholder. Occurrences like boycotts, blockades and legal challenges can indicate this level, although these occurrences can also be instigated by a small opposition (Thomson & Boutilier, 2018). Legitimacy can be seen as the base level of acceptance of projects, from the perspective of stakeholders within the communities, and is based within justly conducted decision-making procedures and fair distribution of benefits (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2017). In order for projects to exceed the legitimacy boundary and reach the level of acceptance, proponents need to establish legitimacy within multiple dimensions:

- Legal and administrative legitimacy: Considers whether the project has, in the perception of stakeholders adhered to the laws, regulations, (international) standards and procedures of decision-making in a reasonable and fair way (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018). This dimension also links with the notion of procedural fairness proposed by Moffat & Zhang (2014).
- *Economic legitimacy*: Considers whether the benefits and compensations, that are provided to the (local) communities, are distributed fairly (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Moffat & Zhang, 2014; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011) and outweigh the costs and/or burdens to these communities (Moffat & Zhang, 2014).
- Socio-political legitimacy: Is the perception that, the development positively influences wellbeing within the (local) communities, and that respect has been shown to the local context (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011). Additionally, the broad reputation of the proponents and exploration of alternatives are considered a factor within this dimension (Thomson & Boutilier, 2011). Furthermore, the perceptions of the communities whether they had access to all relevant information and whether they were heard and treated in a fair and reasonable manner, are also included as factors (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018).

The dimensions within the legitimacy boundary can also be seen as a continuum with legal and administrative legitimacy being something that always should be required, regardless the perception of communities. Furthermore, Thomson and Boutilier (2011) find that economic legitimacy is at the base of acceptance from stakeholders and find that socio-political legitimacy also partly exceeds this level by influencing the approval-level. When the proponents adhere to all the dimensions within legitimacy-level a project should have reached the acceptance level. Physical indicators of this level according to Thomson & Boutilier (2018) might be the presence of lingering issues, presence of outside NGOs and watchful monitoring.`

#### From Acceptance to Approval: Credibility

To elevate the level of SLOs, from of acceptance to approval, the credibility boundary has to be crossed. Credibility is the actions-based reputation of projects and their proponents (Jijelava &

Vanclay, 2018) and can be seen as *"a basic level of trust related to honesty and reliability"* (Smith & Richards, 2015. p. 93). When the approval level has been reached communities perceive the proponents as 'a good neighbour' and have senses of pride in collaborative achievements (Thomson & Boutilier, 2018). The dimensions of credibility are the communities their perception of:

- The proponents their commitment to social performance. Jijelava & Vanclay (2017) and Vanclay et al. (2015) propose multiple indicators of social performance:
  - An effective assessment and consideration of all issues from the communities related to the project, including impacts on social infrastructure (Moffat & Zhang, 2014) and environmental impacts;
  - The design and implementation of monitoring programs;
  - Provision benefits to the community;
  - Acting in accordance with international social and environmental standards;
  - Showing openness, transparency and good governance;
  - Conducting effective community engagement.
- The competence that project proponents have to act on promises made. This entails that, without competence, a project and its proponents can not deliver on promises made to the communities, therefore limiting their reliability and truthfulness (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2017). Moffat & Zhang (2014) phrase this factor as 'competence-based trust'.
- Proponents their understanding of and respect for the local context (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018). In line with effective community engagement, to gain credibility, proper public participation with local representatives in decision-making should be conducted (Gunningham et al. 2006; Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Meesters & Behagel, 2017; Moffat & Zhang, 2014; Pro and Slocombe, 2014; Smits et al. 2017). Additionally, compensation should not be limited to just material, but should also be directed towards regional development with incorporation of social aspects in development (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Vanclay, 2017).

The approval level is largely a manifestation of high levels of socio-political legitimacy and what Thomson & Boutilier (2011) describe as 'interactional trust'. This means that the project proponents, in the perception of the communities, *"engage in mutual dialogue and exhibit reciprocity in their interactions"* (Thomson & Boutilier, 2011. p 4).

#### From Approval to Psychological identification: trust(worthiness)

The highest form of the SLO is psychological identification. Between this level and the approval level lays the trustworthiness boundary. Indicators of trust can be the presence of political support, comanagement of activities with other stakeholders and cooperation against criticism from communities (Thomson & Boutilier, 2011; Thomson & Boutilier, 2018). Jijelava & Vanclay (2018) state that on this level stakeholders see proponents as partners in a developed long-term relationship and Thomson & Boutilier (2011) call this institutional trust. This trust is indicated by the following factors:

- The quality of interaction between the project and the communities. This has been identified by Moffat & Zhang (2014) to be a decisive factor in perceptions of trust and acceptance of a project.
- The active involvement of communities within the decision-making process and monitoring (Dare et al. 2014; Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018).
- The understanding of the project proponents that there is not one unified community, but a range of communities with different opinion and views (Dare et al. 2014; Jijelava, 2019).
- Attention has been paid to marginalized groups within the communities. According to van der Ploeg & Vanclay (2017) this especially regards disabled persons, elderly, women and Indigenous people.
- That the proponents have shown a regard for these factors over a long-time period.

#### Moffat & Zhang (2014) and Zhang et al. (2015)

In their model, displayed in Figure 2, Moffat & Zhang (2014) place trust central in communities their acceptance and approval of projects. This trust is influenced by the impacts on social infrastructure, contact quality and quantity and procedural fairness. In later research contact quantity was removed as factor. On multiple national levels Zhang et al. (2015) found that distributional fairness, procedural fairness and confidence in governance are the main factors of trust in mining as industry, which influences the overall acceptance of mining (Figure 3). Although both the models were developed for mining, Moffat et al. (2015) find the models also suitable for other industries.

#### Local model of SLO

*Impacts on social infrastructure* relates to the (social) impacts of projects and how they are managed and mitigated by the project proponents. Following this, Moffat & Zhang (2014) claim that the difference between the extent to which stakeholders experience the impacts compared to what they expected beforehand is crucial within the overall acceptance of the project. If this difference is high, then trust in the project and proponents will go down, and when impacts seem to be less than expected, this trust will rise.



Moffat & Zhang (2014) see *quality of interaction* as another vital factor within building trust and eventually acceptance and approval of projects. They base this factor on the relationships between the project and the stakeholders in the related communities. *Procedural fairness* considers the perceptions of stakeholders if they: *"have had a reasonable voice within the decision-making process"* (Moffat & Zhang, 2014. p 63). This is also related to the role of governments and how they manage public participation, as an important part within SLO practice (Gunningham et al. 2006; Prno, 2013; Zhang et al. 2018). Moffat & Zhang (2014) add that acceptance will increase when the communities their concerns are addressed accordingly, even if the eventual decision that are made go against their standpoints.

#### SLO at the International, National and Industry levels

In their model of (inter)national acceptance of mining, Zhang et al. (2015), along with Parsons et al. (2014) and Prno & Slocombe (2014), find that the overall reputation of an industry also influences acceptance of local activities. In reverse, local activities, can also influence SLOs on a broader scale (Prno & Slocombe, 2014; Zhang et al., 2015), for instance through severe impacts of one project. Distributional fairness, procedural fairness and confidence in governance are the main factors within





Figure 3. The model of SLOs on (inter)national and industry-wide scale, developed by Zhang et al. (2014).

Distributional fairness encompasses the perception of the public that benefits of the project are distributed in a fair way. Multiple other sources also see distributional fairness as an important factor within obtaining SLOs (Boutilier et al. 2012; Hall et al. 2012; Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Meesters & Behagel, 2017; Smits et al. 2017). Lacey et al. (2017) applied the model to a local case of a goldmine in Waihi New Zealand and confirmed that distributional fairness is also an important factor of trust and acceptance of projects on a local scale. The factor of procedural fairness is the same factor as within the local model of SLO proposed by Moffat & Zhang (2014). Confidence in governance is the perception of the public that governments hold projects and their proponents accountable for their actions and that their arrangements of rules, regulations and law are adequate in preventing communities from harmful impacts (Zhang et al. 2015). In addition, the level of public participation provided to communities by governments also influences the level of trust in the governance and subsequently overall acceptance and approval of the project. Further, the financial arrangements that governments have with some projects, either through tax schemes or direct deals, are an additional factor contributing to confidence in governance. When governments receive significant revenues from certain activates, trust that communities have their impartiality can be inhibited. Moffat & Zhang (2014) find trust an important factor of SLO and distinguish three main elements. The first is that the project shows integrity, which entails that the proponents act accordingly with a certain set of principles. The second component is the perception of the communities that the project and the proponents are competent to manage the issues that the communities voice. Finally, trust is made up of the rate that the expectations of the communities are met by the projects' proponents.

#### Prno & Slocombe (2014)

Prno & Slocombe (2014) developed a systems-based model of factors that influence SLOs outcomes in mining, see Figure 4. This framework is made up of four components: system characteristics, multi-scale variables, local variables, and SLO outcomes. The underlying variables can change according to the local context of projects, and these variables influence each other through feedback mechanisms.

#### System characteristics

System characteristics consist of context, change, uncertainty, emergence, cross-scale effects and feedbacks. *Context* consist of the specific variables inherent to different places and situations, which is viewed by many as an important factor in SLOs (Boutilier et al. 2012; Corvellec, 2007; Franks &

Cohen, 2012; Gunningham et al. 2006; Hall et al. 2012; Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Lacey et al. 2017; Nelsen & Scoble, 2006; Owen & Kemp, 2013; Prno, 2013; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011; Vanclay, 2017; van de Biezenbos, 2018). *Change* and *uncertainty* encompass unforeseen variables and unforeseen impacts that can influence the outcomes of SLOs. An example of this are the earthquakes induced by gas extraction in the Netherlands that eroded the SLOs of the company NAM (van der Voort & Vanclay, 2015). *Emergence* is the notion that SLOs are not built linearly but emerge as a consequence of multiple small events. *Cross-scale effects* are effects that are temporal and geographical, that can influence SLOs, because communities' perceptions are tied to incidents in the past and in other regions. *Feedbacks* refer to the influence that the different components and variables can have on each other.



Figure 4. Systems-based model of SLOs developed by Prno & Slocombe (2014)

#### Multi-scale variables

Multi-scale variables are variables that are present on regional, national and international scales, and that can influence variables within the local context. This component consists of three subcategories: Socio-economic conditions, governance and institutional arrangements, and biophysical conditions. *Socio-economic conditions* considers variables like global markets and national and regional economic policies that can influence local conditions, like decreases in revenues. Existing laws, rules and regulations and more informal arrangements, like international standards, are examples that make up *governance and institutional arrangements*. An important part of this is the extent of public participation provided by the relevant governments (Gunningham et al. 2006; Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Prno, 2013; Zhang et al. 2018). The biotic and abiotic factors outside of the human sphere, that influence SLOs, are variables that encompass the *biophysical conditions*.

#### Local variables

Local variables are the variables related to projects themselves, communities, and relationships between projects and communities. These are the variables that can be considered as the most important at the local scale, while other local variables can be placed under context. *Project related variables* are the performance of proponents on governance structures; their (social) competence

and reputation. In addition, leadership and personalities within projects are important for this variable. However, most importantly is the proponents' performance in community engagement, which is widely endorsed in SLO-literature (Dare et al. 2014; Cooney, 2017; Hall et al. 2015; Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Meesters & Behagel, 2017; Owen & Kemp, 2013; Rodhouse & Vanclay, 2016; Vanclay, 2017; van de Biezenbos, 2018; Zhang et al. 2018). *Communities* also contain important variables as 'issuers' of SLOs. Their perceptions, needs, expectations and aspirations make up this component, but also past experiences, resilience, knowledge, cultures and relationships with other communities. Between project related variables and communities lay the *project-community relationships*. Important parts within these relationships are the degree in which expectations of communities are met, but also stability factors of trust and dialogue. History of relationships and proper communicative processes also make up important factors.

#### SLO outcomes

Prno & Slocombe (2014) distinguish four states of SLO outcomes: One, where SLOs are issued and projects proceed and second where SLOs are not issued and projects do proceed. The third state is where SLOs are issued and projects do not proceed and the fourth is where SLOs are not issued and projects do not proceed. These outcomes are influenced by the variables of SLOs and do not always comply with the wants and needs of communities. The variable of resilience also relates to systems and consists of the capability to be resilient or adaptable to changes within variables influencing SLOs' outcomes. Prno & Slocombe (2014) state that resilience can be achieved with higher levels of SLOs obtained, like approval and psychological identification.

#### Overlapping and additional factors

The four models show some similarities but also give additional factors of SLOs to each other. Economic legitimacy (Thomson & Boutilier, 2011) and distributional fairness (Moffat & Zhang, 2014) show for instance a lot of similarities as do legal/administrative legitimacy and procedural fairness. Contact quality (Moffat & Zhang, 2014) links with effective community engagement (Thomson & Boutilier, 2011) and project-community relationships proposed by Prno & Slocombe (2014). Furthermore, impacts on social infrastructure (Moffat & Zhang, 2014) are similar to social impacts and can be considered under the variable of commitment to social performance proposes by Thomson & Boutilier (2011) and project-community relationships presented by Prno & Slocombe (2014). Confidence in governance is a factor that Moffat & Zhang (2014) and Prno & Slocombe (2014) both assert. However, Prno & Slocombe (2014) broaden this factor to governance and institutional arrangements. Additionally, context is considered an important factor by both Thomson & Boutilier (2014) and Prno & Slocombe (2014). Prno & Slocombe (2014) also add other system variables to their model. Although, context is also is present within local and multi-scale variables, like communities and socio-economic conditions. Governance and institutional arrangements as variable proposed by Prno & Slocombe (2014) also encompasses social-political legitimacy and commitment to social performance from the model of Thomson & Boutilier (2011). Project related variables can be associated with community engagement, social performance and legal/administrative legitimacy proposed by Thomson & Boutilier (2011), but also link with competence within the model of Moffat & Zhang (2014) and Thomson & Boutilier (2011). Community and project relations from Prno & Slocombe (2014) their model overlap the most with the two other models and can almost be interchanged with either one. The model of Prno & Slocombe (2014) does add some extra variables: biophysical conditions and SLO outcomes, especially resilience. Furthermore, they provide a departmentalisation of some of the contextual factors.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

Most of the overlapping factors can be placed within the model of Thomson & Boutilier (2011), adjusted by Jijelava & Vanclay (2017; 2018), as representation of the interactions between projects

and communities. Therefore, this model is placed within centre of the theoretical framework. Systems characteristics proposed by Prno & Slocombe (2014) are placed within the left top corner and are influencing factors upon the SLO continuum of Thomson & Boutilier (2011). Context variables on the different scales also influence the factors within this continuum and are placed in the left corner of the model. Subsequently, these variables within the model lead to certain SLO outcomes as proposed by Prno & Slocombe (2014) that have different scales (Dare et al. 2014) and certain amounts of resilience (Prno & Slocombe, 2014). Over time and through feedbacks, outcomes of SLOs influence both the context and systems characteristics and therefore, the interactions between the project and communities (Prno & Slocombe, 2014). The theoretical framework is provided in Figure 5.

Theoretical Framework of the Social Licence to Operate



Dare et al. (2014)

#### Additional concepts related to SLO

Within the theoretical framework, the various factors contributing to SLOs are identified. Important factors that emerged from this where social impacts, participation, community engagement, stakeholders, communities and governance. Because of their importance within SLOs, these factors are explored more thoroughly within this paragraph.

#### Social impacts and social impact assessment

Impacts caused by projects and how these impacts are assed and considered have a great influence on the SLOs given by stakeholders.

#### Social impacts

Social impacts can be simply defined as everything that affects people that is caused by or linked to a project (Vanclay et al., 2015). This can be either about perceptions or physical impacts on individuals, families/households, social groups, communities or societies (Vanclay, 2002). Both Slootweg et al. (2001) and Vanclay (2002) in their conceptualisation of social impacts make a distinction between social change processes and social impacts. Social impacts are what is truly experienced, by individuals, communities, and/or other social configurations, as impacts. Social change processes can be seen as the mechanisms that lead to these social impacts (Vanclay, 2002; Slootweg et al. 2001). As example, a declining population is not an impact itself, but this process can lead to multiple different social impacts, like a decline in local facilities. Vanclay (2002) stresses that, although commonly forgotten in SIA literature, impacts can be negative, but also positive. Slootweg et al. (2001) further discuss the concept of a 'social filter'. This is a filter that filters down certain potential impacts because of the particular characteristics of the social setting. For instance, a community with a lot of different industries and job opportunities can handle a closure of a factory better than a community that is largely depended on that factory for their labour opportunities. A distinction can be made between direct and indirect social impacts. Indirect impacts are the result of changes of and impacts on the physical environment. Conversely, direct impacts are the result of social change processes that are directly caused by a project (Slootweg et al. 2001). Furthermore, cumulative impacts can occur when change processes or impacts of projects strengthen other effects (Franks et al., 2012).

#### Social impact assessment

Social impact assessment (SIA) is defined by Vanclay (2003, p 1.) as: 'the monitoring and manging of the intended and unintended social consequences, both positive and negative, of planned interventions (policies, programs, plans, projects) and any social change processes invoked by those interventions.' The International Association for Impact Assessment (IAIA) proposes four ongoing phases of social impact assessment that can be seen as a standard for practice (Vanclay et al. 2015). These are:

- Understanding the issues: in the first phase of projects and their areas of influence are analysed. This includes community profiling, assembling of baseline data and initial engagement.
- *Predicting, analysing* and *assessing the likely impact pathways:* this consists of analyses of impacts and stakeholders affected. Alternatives to the project are also considered in this phase.
- Development and implementation of strategies: This phase consists of addressing the issues and impacts in forms of compensation and mitigation.
- The design and implementation of monitoring programs: within the last phase monitoring plans are implemented to analyse and evaluate the impacts and management plans (Vanclay et al. 2015).

#### *Governance and governments*

Governance and confidence in governance is an important factor in SLOs, according to Moffat & Zhang (2014) and Prno & Slocombe (2014), and high levels of SLOs can positively influence the

issuing of legal licences by governments (Gunningham et al. 2004; Hall et al. 2015; van de Biezenbos, 2018). On the other hand, (local) governments can also deny these licenses when there is a lot of community resistance. Not only by this form of agency governments are able empower communities, but also by providing adequate public participation opportunities within the decision-making of renewable energy projects (Bell et al. 2005; Blomberg Bingham et al. 2005; Colton et al. 2016; Hall et al. 2015; Jami & Walsh, 2014). This also relates to procedural fairness (Moffat & Zhang, 2014) and legal and administrative legitimacy (Thomson and Boutilier, 2011) as a key components at the base of SLOs. Because governments are the issuer of licences, they are the party that have to ensure that procedures are conducted fairly and justly in order to obtain trust and acceptance from the communities (Zhang et al. 2015). This trust in government however is often lacking (Boutilier, 2019; Prno & Slocombe, 2014; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011; Zhang & Moffat, 2015), and is one of the reasons why a SLO approach is adopted in some industries (Boutilier, 2019; Cooney, 2017; Prno & Slocombe, 2014; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011). Another reason why this notion of trust can be stifled, is the issue of financial interest of (local) governments in certain development. This can hamper the perception of impartiality of the governments involved and therefore the acceptance of projects (Bice, 2014). Local communities often find that they lack agency from governments (Boutilier, 2019; Prno & Slocombe, 2014; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011; Zhang & Moffat, 2015), however or because of this a trend is discernible that local communities are demanding more influence in decision-making (Prno & Slocombe, 2014; Smits et al. 2017), for instance via public participation and community engagement processes. Thus, a case can be made that (local) governments have an important role and responsibility within SLOs. This should be a mediating role between the proponents and the communities (Moffat & Zhang, 2014).

#### Community engagement and public participation

Central to SLOs is the engagement of communities that are affected by or can affect projects (Cooney, 2017; Dare et al. 2014; Hall et al. 2015; Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Meesters & Behagel, 2017; Owen & Kemp, 2013; Rodhouse & Vanclay, 2016; Vanclay, 2017; van de Biezenbos, 2018; Zhang et al. 2018), because it provides opportunities for good, positive interaction that builds credibility and ultimately trust (Moffat and Zhang, 2014; Prno, 2013). The concept of community engagements also encompasses public participation in decision-making, which is seen as an important factor in obtaining SLOs (Gunningham et al. 2006; Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Prno, 2013; Zhang et al. 2018).

#### Community engagement

Dare et al. (2014) distinguish two forms of community engagement, operational community engagement and strategic community engagement. Operational community engagement relates to the engagement with stakeholders and communities that are directly impacted by a project. Strategic community engagement regards stakeholders that are not directly impacted by projects but that can potentially influence projects (Dare et al., 2014). Simply, operational engagement considers the local communities and the strategic engagement broader society. Furthermore, community engagement is more than just participation in decision-making. It is about communication and understanding of the local context (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Meesters & Behagel, 2017; Prno, 2013), but also about providing benefits that aid development of these communities (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018).

#### Public participation

The concept of public participation is the rate to which the public, especially the local communities, are involved within the decision-making process. Although there is a large interest in this subject, Arnstein (1967) provides a practical framework to analyse the rate of participation. As a metaphor for the rate public involvement in decision-making, Arnstein (1967) proposed the ladder op citizens participation. She distinguishes eight increasing levels of participation starting with: *1. Manipulation,* followed by *2. therapy, 3. informing, 4. consultation, 5. placation, 6. partnership, 7. delegated power* 

and 8. citizen control (see Figure 6). The first two levels are labelled as non-participatory and Level 3 until 5 are labelled as tokenism. In these stages the public does have a say within the decision-making process but is not equal towards the proponents. The highest levels, ranging from partnership to ultimate citizen control, do provide citizens with power in decision-making (Arnstein, 1967). This makes that, in order to empower (local) communities and to obtain SLOs, it is important that higher levels of participation are provided (Meesters & Behagel, 2017). An increase in levels of participation can be linked to a shift in spatial planning from technical top-down approach to a communicative, collaborative bottom op approach (Allmendinger, 2017; Lane, 2005; de Roo & Silva, 2010). A communicative approach is seen by de Roo & Silva (2010) as the most suitable approach for situations characterized high levels of complexity, by uncertainty and intersubjectiveness, for instance the development of renewable energy projects. Therefore, to obtain SLOs for renewable energy projects, a communicative planning approach should be taken with high levels of participation (Hall et al. 2012).



Figure 6. Ladder of citizens participation by Arnstein (1967)

#### Stakeholders, communities and levels of SLOs

SLOs are about communities and projects and the stakeholders where these communities are made up of. However, what exactly entails these communities, what groups they are made up of and the extent to which these different groups have a say within the decision-making, is not always clear.

Within SLO literature, the definition of stakeholders by Freeman is used most frequent (Moffat & Zhang, 2014; Prno & Slocombe, 2014; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011). Freeman states that a stakeholder *"is any group or individual that can affect or can be affected by the realization of an organization's purpose"* (Freeman, 2007 p. 12). Considering this, in SLOs, a stakeholder is a group or person that is affected by or can affect a project. Freeman (2007) also makes a distinction between primary and secondary stakeholders. Primary stakeholders make those groups or persons that are directly affected, while secondary stakeholders. For instance (local) communities are regarded as primary and social interest groups (NGOs) as secondary (Freeman, 2007).

The importance of these stakeholders can be based on the power they have, their legitimacy and their urgency (Mitchell et al. 1997). Within the communities surrounding projects these concepts can be translated into:

- The extent the stakeholder is affected by the project (urgency) and to what extent their claim of being affected is legitimate.
- The power that a stakeholder has to affect a project

Local communities near projects most likely have the highest extent of being affected by projects, like renewable energy, making them primary stakeholders. Governments and NGOs possibly have a higher influence on projects, however cases have shown that local communities also can have a lot of power in affecting projects (Boutilier, 2014; Cooney, 2017; Davis & Franks, 2011; Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018). Additionally, multiple academic find that local communities should have the power or at least more power to affect projects (Boutilier, 2014; Cooney, 2017; Demuijnck & Fasterling, 2016;

Meesters & Behagel, 2017; Owen & Kemp, 2013; Prno & Slocombe, 2014; Smits et al. 2017; van de Biezenbos, 2018).

Although it should be clear that SLOs not only include local communities, but also stakeholders from broader scales (Dare et al. 2014; Hall et al. 2015; Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Parsons et al. 2014; Prno & Slocombe, 2014; Smits et al. 2017; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011), local communities are seen as the most important stakeholders, because of their proximity to projects and the extent of being affected by them (Gunningham et al. 2014; Prno & Slocombe, 2014; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011; van de Biezenbos, 2018). Local communities, along with regional communities, can be categorized as *communities of place* whereas other stakeholders, like NGOs as *communities of interest* (Dare et al. 2014; Franks & Cohen, 2012). Alongside these different communities, different scales of SLOs emerge (Dare et al. 2014; Prno & Slocombe, 2014). Dare et al. (2014) propose a framework of these scales distinguishing three: local, regional and societal, along with two categories of communities of place and interest. Stakeholders do not have to exclusively belong to one scale or category, they can be in several. A schematic overview of stakeholders within SLO is displayed in Figure 7.



Figure 7. Framework for determining stakeholders and communities related to projects and their SLOs. Largely derived from Dare et al. (2014), with additions from Freeman (2007) and Mitchell et al. (1997).

#### Methodology

This chapter contains a description of the approach and methods taken along with a description of what data was analysed and how. An ethical consideration of these methods is also included in the chapter.

#### Research approach

Within research on the SLO, both quantitative and qualitative approaches are used. However, the SLO is regarded as an intangible concept (Bice, 2014; Franks & Vanclay, 2013; Nelsen & Scoble, 2006; Parsons et al. 2014) that is hard to measure (Bice, 2014; Nelsen & Scoble, 2006; Parsons et al. 2014) and to quantify (Lacey et al. 2017). The concept is also based within the perception of (local) communities (Franks & Cohen, 2012; Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Moffat & Zhang, 2014; Nelsen & Scoble, 2006; Owen & Kemp, 2013; Prno & Slocombe, 2014; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011) and context makes up an important part within the SLO (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Meesters & Behagel, 2017; Prno & Slocombe, 2014; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011). From this it can be derived that SLOs are based within intersubjectivity and the experiences, needs and aspiration of the related communities. This makes the concept of SLO, within an interpretive paradigm, a socially constructed concept. According to Hay (2016), a qualitative approach is most suitable for researching societal structures, perceptions and experiences of groups and individuals. Therefore, to research how renewable energy projects can gain SLOs, a qualitative research approach is seen as most suitable. Because the SLO is about acceptance of certain projects, activities and developments, case studies are often used to test the applicability of the concept (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2017; 2018) or to develop theory (Dare et al. 2014; Moffat & Zhang, 2014; Prno & Slocombe, 2014; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011; Zhang et al. 2015). Within this research, a case study approach was undertaken to test the applicability of the SLO to renewable energy projects, especially solar farms, and to develop theory on how these renewable energy projects can obtain SLOs from the associated communities.

#### Research structure

The research was structured based on the theoretical framework presented in Figure 5 (page 12) and the additional concepts related to SLOs. First, the context of the case was researched based on three sub-categories propped by Prno & Slocombe (2014): socio-economic conditions, governance & institutional arrangement, and biophysical conditions. Second, a study was done the extent to which the case had obtained and maintained SLOs from the communities. The stakeholders in this case were determined with the framework depicted in Figure 7 (page 16). Social impacts and their mitigation efforts were analysed with the frameworks of Vanclay (2001) and Slootweg et al. (2001) and the rates of participation provided were analysed based on the ladder of Arnstein (1967). Within the last step, it was analysed how the case deviated from theory and it was analysed what factors where decisive for the either gaining SLOs or in not obtaining SLOs. These factors provided insight in how approaches for obtaining SLOs for renewable energy projects can be improved.

#### Selection of case

For the selection of a suitable case, criteria were developed. Foremost, the case had to be a renewable energy project. Since wind-energy already had academic interest related to SLO (Corscadden et al. 2012; Corvellec, 2007; Hall et al. 2012; Hall et al. 2015; Lansbury Hall & Jeanneret, 2015) other renewable energy technologies were sought to broaden the SLO knowledge within the renewable energy industry and academia. For accessibility reasons, the Northern-Netherlands was chosen as geographic region in which the case had to be located. Within this region, cases of two other potential sustainable energy technologies were present, namely bio-fermentation plants and solar farms (RVO, 2019). From these two options the most contested option was chosen because of applicability of the SLO concept. Bio-fermentation plants within the Netherlands do experience some debates and contestedness (de Mik, 2017; Omroep Zeeland, 2018; Veltman, 2017), however the

protests numbers relative to the number of bio-fermentation plants is lower than in the case of solar farms. And because, solar farms have sparked much debate and protest within the north of the Netherlands (Atsma, 2019; DvhN, 2019; DvhN, 2019a; Meijer, 2018; van den Eerenbeemt, 2018), they were chosen as most suitable renewable energy technology.

The suitability of a solar farm case was based on three criteria. First, it had to be relatively large, land-based and implemented, so it would form a distinguishable feature in the landscape. Second, the solar farm needed to have some level of contestation, for instance caused by the presence of multiple opposing stakeholders within the vicinity of the project. Third, the project had to be accompanied by some level of community engagement and public participation in order to analyse the effectiveness of this engagement as a crucial factor within SLOs. The solar farm on Ameland provided a suitable case that matched these criteria, because it is a 10-hectare, land-based solar farm that was completed in 2017. A certain level of contestation was shown within multiple legal objections and news articles. The proponents also had community engagement strategies by providing financial participation and deliberation moments with different stakeholders. Therefore, Zonnepark Ameland was chosen as the case to be studied within this research.

#### Research methods used

Within the qualitative research approach, two types of qualitative research were applied within the case study, namely oral and textual. Interviews mainly covered the oral part and document analyses the textual part.

#### Documents and other textual data

Bowen (2009) assigns great value to document analyses in case study research and data triangulation. As a method, it can provide information about context, input for questions within interviews, supplementary research data and a means of tracking change and development. It has been applied within multiple case studies within SLO research (Hall et al. 2015; Jijelava & Vanclay, 2017; Prno, 2013; Prno & Slocombe, 2014; Smits et al. 2017). In addition, documents as data provide broad coverage, exactness of data, stability and are not altered by the researcher or the research process. They also provide more data in less time (Bowen, 2009; Yin, 1994). In contrast, this data can have a low level of detail and the selection of the data by the researcher can be biased (Bowen, 2009). Within the case study of Zonnepark Ameland, document analysis provided data for multiple purpose: 1) to provide contextual data of the island of Ameland and the case of Zonnepark Ameland; 2) to give insight in the opinions of stakeholders within the communities related to the case; and 3) to give insight in the process and procedures that where taken by the proponents, governments and other organisations involved in the project. In Table 1, a list is provided with documents that were used extensively as data sources. Other documents that were used included media reports, proceedings, minutes of hearings, debates and other meetings. Messages and comments on social media covering the project were also analysed, because social media platforms are frequently used for protest actions and debate (Hanna et al. 2015). The data was searched using the Google search engine, LexisNexis and the database of Municipality of Ameland.

Table 1: Overview of used documents and other textual sources.

Document or other textual source	Author/publisher	Used for
Ruimtelijke onderbouwing Zonnepark	Rho Adviseurs, 2014	Contextual data
Ameland <sup>2</sup>		Insight in opinions
		Process and procedures
Legal objections against the project	Multiple	Contextual data
		Insight in opinions
		Process and procedures
Database council meetings of Gemeente	Gemeente Ameland, 2019c	Contextual data
Ameland		Insight in opinions
		Process and procedures
Weerstand tegen Zonneparken (master	Zomerdijk, 2018	Contextual data
thesis)		Insight in opinions
		Process and procedures
Informatie memorandum AEC	AEC, sd	Contextual data
		Process and procedures
Language Change on the Dutch Frisian	Jansen, 2010	Contextual data
Island of Ameland		
Website of Duurzaam Ameland	Duurzaam Ameland, 2019	Contextual data
(https://www.duurzaamameland.nl/)		Process and procedures

#### Interviews

Interviews are a common method within qualitative research and have the purpose to elicit information or expressions of opinion or belief from another person or persons. As a method, they are valuable for investigating complex behaviours and motivations, and for the collection of diversity of meanings, opinions and experiences (Dunn, 2010). Within this research, the aim of the interviews was to provide contextual data and insight into the processes and procedures that were undertaken, but mainly to provide insight into the opinions of the stakeholders related to Zonnepark Ameland and the processes leading to the realisation. The aim was to conduct semi-structured interviews with the stakeholders within the case. However, due to research fatigue, participants or phenomena being researched to much (Clark, 2008), was experienced by some participants. Additionally, there were issued of time constrains and communication deficits and therefore other forms of interviews were conducted. For instance, interviews via phone, minuting phone conversations and sending questions via email. Participants for the interviews were purposefully sampled to gain information-rich cases (Baxter & Eyles, 2004) and were chosen based on a preliminary stakeholder inventorisation of the case. Both advocates and opponents were actively sought for the interviews to gain a perspective of the debates related the project. In some cases, snowball-sampling was applied to find additional participants. The number of interviews depended on occurrences of redundancy and saturation of provided information (Baxter & Eyles, 2004). In Table 2 a list of the interviews held is provided. The interview data from a 2018 socio-spatial planning master thesis of Zomerdijk (2018) on the same case was also used.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A 'Ruimtelijke onderbouwing' (spatial substantiation) is a mandatory document that has to be provided by the initiator of a development in order to obtain a permit for deviating from a zonal plan from the relevant government(s). It has to include a description of the development, how the development adheres to laws and regulations and impacts of the development on environmental factors and substantiation of societal and economic feasibility (Rijksoverheid, 2018). These documents are publicly available on the site: <u>www.ruimtelijkeplannen.nl</u>

Who	When	Mode
Zweefvliegclub Ameland	09-10-2019	Telephone
representative		
Airport Ameland representative	09-10-2019	Telephone
Local resident opposed	10-10-2019	Mail
Camping Roosdunen	15-10-2019	Telephone
representative		
Local resident near the project	01-11-2019	Face-to-face
AEC (Amelander Energy	06-11-2019	Face-to-face
Cooperatie); J. Kiewiet		
Municipality of Ameland; L. van	06-11-2019	Face-to-face
Tiggelen		
Eneco	19-11-2019	Telephone
Natuurwerkgroep Ameland	29-11-2019	Face-to-face
VVV Ameland	03-12-2019	Telephone

#### Table 2: interviews taken with date and mode

#### Data analysis

Both the textual data and transcripts of the oral data were analysed through coding in Atlas.ti. For the coding, the analyses scheme of five coding steps proposed by Stoffelen (2019) was used. Added to this scheme was a preliminary analysis that consisted of skimming documents and other textual sources (Bowen, 2007) in order to identify preliminary codes and themes (Cope, 2010). In the first step of the coding process, descriptive codes were assigned to the texts. These codes were not derived from theory, but from the data itself (Cope, 2010; Stoffelen, 2019). After this first round of coding, patterns, categories and themes within and between the codes were sought (Stoffelen, 2019). The codes were reviewed, and similar codes were connected and rephrased in order to place them within categories and themes. The categories and themes that emerged were compared and combined with the preliminary themes and categories. The next step consisted of a provisional coding round based on codes derived from the theoretical framework (Stoffelen, 2019). This step also contained a manifest coding round to analyse recurring phrases, statements or words connected to the case (Hesmondhalgh, 2006). Within the fourth step, the codes, categories and themes of Step 2 were compared and combined with the provisional codes of Step 3 to come to a hierarchical coding scheme (Stoffelen, 2019). This hierarchical coding scheme was applied within the last round of coding of the data (Stoffelen, 2019). After the coding phase, the data was again connected to the research aim and questions in order to produce the results of the research (Cope, 2010a). After this, key findings were extracted from the analysed data and connected to the research questions. Where the available data lacked information about the topic, additional sources were sought to provide the necessary data (Stoffelen, 2019).

#### Ethical

#### considerations

The research was conducted on the basis of the five principles of the Dutch behavioural code on scientific integrity: honesty, meticulousness, independence and responsibility (Nederlandse gedragscode wetenschappelijke integriteit, 2018). For the case, local authorisation was sought (Hay, 2016) from the main initiator of the project, Mr. J. Kiewiet. For every interview, informed consent was obtained on the basis that they were informed about the purpose and content of the research. The data was carefully handled and, by request, anonymized (Hay, 2010). However, due to the limited stakeholders within the case and high levels of familiarity within the local communities, it was made clear to the participants that it was likely that participants could be traced back through the

data. A form provided by the RUG was used to confirm informed consent of the participants. The outcomes of the transcripts and analyses were disseminated upon request and participants were given the power to adjust the data derived from them (Hay, 2010). Hay (2019) suggest that researchers should be reflexive about their position towards the research and participants. Being a planning consultant in sustainable energy projects and local proponent of a sustainable energy project influences, the researchers' interpretation and attitude towards participants. This influence was tried to be mitigated by deliberation of research approach, participant selection, data gathering and analyses with the main supervisor, other faculty staff and fellow students. Two other issues emerged within the case research, one regarding research fatigue, the other regarding the reviving of old conflicts within the communities. Some (potential) participants stated that they repeatedly received requests for interviews about the solar farm. In hindsight, a more thorough research of previous studies on the case could have predicted these responses. The responses were reported to the faculty in order for it to be taken into account in future research. The other issue considers the contestedness of space on Ameland, which is apparent as possible conflicting interests between nature, tourism and local inhabitants. With researching a contested project taking up 10-hectare space, old disputes potentially could re-emerge. To mitigate these effects, this issue was consulted with the interviewees. All stated that this was not an issue for them, although some did want to remain anonymous.

#### Background to the case study: An overview of Ameland and the Solarfarm

#### The island of Ameland

Ameland is an island between the UNESCO World Heritage Area of the Wadden Sea (UNESCO, 2019) and the North Sea along the north-western coast of the Netherlands. It neighbours the islands of Terschelling and Schiermonnikoog. The island covers 5,900 hectares of land (CBS, 2018) and has a total of 3,741 inhabitants (CBS, 2019b). The island has four villages, two in the west named Hollum (1,260 inhabitants) and Ballum (440 inhabitants) and two in the east called Nes (1,230 inhabitants) and Buren (710 inhabitants) (see Figure 8).



Figure 8. The Island of Ameland. Sources: (Buiting Advies, 2019; EEA, 2016; Esri Nederland, 2019; Kadaster, 2019) adjusted by student.

The mean annual income of the island is slightly under the national mean with  $\pounds 27,000$  (national:  $\pounds 28,200$ ), but slightly higher than the provincial mean of Friesland of  $\pounds 26,100$ . The largest industry and main source of income is tourism (CBS, 2019c; CBS, 2019d; Sijtsma et al., 2012). The island is connected to the mainland by a ferry that fares between Nes and Holwerd in Friesland. The trip takes approximately 50 minutes, but recent geomorphological processes have caused delays and threaten the accessibility of the island (Deltares, 2016; van Laarhoven, 2019). Most of the island is connected to one main road from Hollum to Ballum to Nes and eventually Buren. Due to its accessibility (or the lack of), high degree of community-mindedness, and the regular influx of tourists, Ameland has a relative high density of facilities in comparison to the mainland, but lacks a hospital (CBS, 2019e). Ameland also has its own Municipality bearing the same name, the office of the Municipality resides in Ballum. Like most of the northern Netherlands, the island was formed by glacial and interglacial periods (Berendsen, 2005). During the last glacial period, the North Sea was largely dry and *dekzand* (coversand) was deposited on the plains. The warmer period that followed, the Holocene, caused sea-level rise which resulted in the deposition of clay and sand along the current locations of the

Wadden islands, eventually forming two walls. One of these walls laid along the current location of Ameland and Terschelling and behind this wall, peat was deposited. In the millennia before the modern era, dunes were formed on the wall. Inlets from the sea eventually were formed and washed the peat area away, making Ameland an island (Bazelmans et al. 2012; van der Spek, 1996; de Vries, 2019). From the 8<sup>th</sup> century onwards, the islands of the Wadden Sea became fully colonised by humans (de Vries, 2019). Ameland provided only a few sources of income, primarily fishery and agriculture, and later also sailing and whale hunting (De Hokjesman: Aflevering 1: De Amelanders, 2014; Jansen, 2002). From the 15<sup>th</sup> until the 18<sup>th</sup> century, Ameland was ruled independently, of the Province of Friesland and the Dutch Republic, by the lordship of the Cammingha family (Jansen, 2002). This family issued separate law from the rest of the country (Halbertsma 1856 cited by Jansen 2002). After the family did not extent their heir lineage, the current royal family of Orange bought the island and brought it under the control of the Dutch Kingdom (Jansen, 2010). Some inhabitants link this history to their sense of freedom and independence from the mainland (De Hokjesman: Aflevering 1: De Amelanders, 2014), although these traits are recognized within islander culture across the world (Conkling, 2007). This is probably caused by the heightened sense of place islanders have due to precisely-defined geographical boundaries, familiarity with the environment (Hay, 2006) and closeness to neighbours (Conkling, 2007). This cultural aspects are accompanied by senses of cooperation, loyalty, tolerance and discretion, but also high rates of gossip (Putz, 1984, in Conkling, 2007). These traits were exemplified during interviews of a Dutch TV show called 'de Hokjesman', which was about the Amelanders (De Hokjesman: Aflevering 1: De Amelanders, 2014). An example of islandness is apparent within local folklore and festivals, like the Sunneklaas (Santa Claus) festival. During this festival on 5 December, outsiders are not allowed to be on the streets of Ameland, only Amelander adult males (De Hokjesman: Aflevering 1: De Amelanders, 2014; van Es, 2011; Jansen, 2010; Omrop Fryslân, 2018; Scheer, 2018). Another trait of the Amelanders, related to their sense of freedom, is the independence from some mainland laws, for instance dispensation of mandatory Frisian classes in primary school issued by the Province. The reason for this being that the islanders have their own dialects (Jansen, 2010). Their sense of independence is also apparent in the political parties within the municipal council, where currently three of the six parties are local parties. The other three are local chapters of national parties (Gemeente Ameland, 2018). The local parties also have the majority of the seats in the council, with 8 of the total of 11 seats (Gemeente Ameland, 2019a), which is higher than the national average of 32,2% (NOS, 2018). In the middle of the Island, originally there was an inlet of the sea that caused the east and west sides of the island to be divided. This divide is still apparent in different forms. For instance, the villages of Hollum and Ballum on the west are originally Protestant, whereas Nes and Buren in the east are Catholic. This physical separation also caused the Amelander dialect to have eastern and western versions (Jansen, 2002; Jansen, 2010; van Maris, 2010) and even led to heated rivalries between the two football clubs on the island (Boeringa, 2019). In one interview during the tv-episode, it was said that, before, people from Ameland did not marry an Amelander from the other side (De Hokjesman: Aflevering 1: De Amelanders, 2014). However, in recent years tensions surrounding this divide have been largely dissolved (Boeringa, 2019; De Hokjesman: Aflevering 1: De Amelanders, 2014), but it is still noticeable in activities, clubs, communities and daily life (Jansen, 2010; Kiewiet, 2019). Furthermore, according to Jansen (2010), the western part of the island remains more traditional and conservative towards local tradition and dialect compared to the eastern villages. Jansen (2010) finds that this may be a result of the villages Ballum and Hollum depending less on tourism than the villages in the east and because the east has less inmigration from outside of the island. In addition to the built environment of the these villages on the island, a significant part of Ameland consists of nature areas, including Natura 2000<sup>3</sup> area of the Waddensea. This area is, because of its dynamic nature, an important birthplace and biotope for multiple species (Alterra, 2018; Bosman, 2011; Common Wadden Sea Secretariat, 2016; UNESCO, 2019). On the island itself, the dunes also form an important

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Natura 2000 is a network of nature areas protected under EU-regulations (Rijksoverheid, 2019).

Natura 2000 area (Alterra, 2018), because they provide different succession states, biotopes and environments for different species (Dijkema et al., 2005; van Tooren & Krol, 2005). The island is also replete with Natuurnetwerk Nederland<sup>4</sup> (NNN) areas and natural managed agricultural lands (Pronvinsje Fryslân, 2019). Both the natural environment and complementary to that the landscape aesthetics are big attraction factors for tourists coming to the islands. These factors provoke strong feelings of connection to nature (Folmer et al., 2013; Sijtsma et al., 2012). The Director of the local tourism board adds to this, saying that this group of tourists is growing:

"An increasing part, the slow tourist, is interested in the destination where he or she is going to on vacation. Nature, quietness, history and culture are important in that." (VVV Ameland, 2019).

The strong senses of place of Amelanders, a different and independent socio-political situation from the mainland, large amount of nature areas, and high rates of tourism, are factors that can cause the space and decision-making on the island to be highly contested. In the interviews of this research, this was mentioned by the agrarian organisation LTO (2014), the local nature group Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019), and the tourist organisation VVV Ameland (2019). A representative of the Municipality additionally said about this:

"Well that is apparent right ... especially on this island. Square meters are becoming increasingly limited, because everyone gets that now and then space is needed for building, but it always comes at the expense of something else. Every square meter comes at the expense of this" (van Tiggelen, 2019).

Media accounts of conflicts caused by this contestedness are abundant. Recent examples of this are plans for new tourist developments at the location of the old tropical swimming pool (Fierant & de Jong, 2019), plans for increasing skeet shooting activities on the airfield (van den Berg, 2017), new plans for the transportation towards the island (Wijnberg, 2019), plans for a new care centre (Fierant, 2019) and an expansion of a recreational park (AD, 2019).

#### Zonnepark Ameland

The Zonnepark Ameland is located northwest to the village of Ballum in the eastern part of Ameland and lays within the boundaries of the Ameland Airport (Rho Adviseurs, 2014). The initiative started with the former Mayor of Ameland who saw solar farm being built while visiting France. He asked the employees of his Municipality if this would also be possible on Ameland and asked Eneco, then still partly owned by several Dutch municipalities, to cooperate in the venture (Kiewiet, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019). The Municipality had also set a goal to become self-sustaining in energy by 2020 (Gemeente Ameland, 2011) and saw the solar farm as an opportunity to act on this (van Tiggelen, 2019). Wind energy was ruled out for the island, because wind turbines were prohibited under provincial law (Provincie Fryslân, 2018). Therefore, the Municipality searched for a location where the solar farm could be situated. This search was based on three criteria, first it had to be 10 hectares in order to provide enough energy for their inhabitants (van Tiggelen, 2019). The Municipality calculated that 6 MW could be produced on 10 hectares, enough for the energy consumption of the 1,700 households on the island (Kiewiet, 2019). The second criterion was that the land had to be owned by the Municipality, and the third criterion entailed that there had to be as few nature regulations in place as possible. Based on these criteria, the airfield was deemed to be most suitable (van Tiggelen, 2019). The solar farm was one of the first land based solar farms in the Netherlands and has a capacity of 6 MW. Since instalment in March 2017, the park has generated 13,000,000 kWh

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> NNN is a network of nature areas within the Netherlands. Natura 2000 areas are also part of this (Rijksoverheid, 2019a).

from its 23,000 solar panels (Duurzaam Ameland, 2019). The cost of the park amounted to around €7.5 million, that was funded by multiple parties. Eneco, AEC and the Municipality each contributed €331,681 (ENECO, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019). An amount of €2,650,000, was granted by the Waddenfonds (Waddenfonds, 2019), a fund supported by revenue from gas extraction in the Wadden sea area (Dekker, 2005). Another €331,000 from the Province of Fryslân was given as a grant. The remaining 3.5 million was borrowed from a private bank (van Tiggelen, 2019). The financial support from the Province and Waddenfonds was arguably needed, according to the AEC, because solar farms were not profitable at the time (Kiewiet, 2019; Slootweg in van den Dikkenberg, 2014). Nowadays, due to higher cost-effectiveness of solarpanels (Bolinger & Steel, 2015; Krebs et al., 2013; Rehman & Bader, 2007; Ryan et al., 2016), solar farms in the Netherlands are now generally considered to be viable with only the so-called 'SDE+ subsidy', which is a national subsidy that tops up the price of produced kilowatt-hours from renewable energy projects (RVO, 2019). Along with the rise of solar farms, an issue is the fluctuating capacity that is caused by the non-continual production of energy by solar panels. This is caused by peaks of energy flowing into the grid on sunny days and during summer periods (van Loon, 2018). In the case of solar farm Ameland, this issue was addressed by digging a new cable of seven kilometres to the substation in Nes where the local grid is connected with a cable from the mainland (Kiewiet, 2019). Some of these effects are mitigated by the influx of tourists on sunny days and summer periods on the island, that causes the energy consumption on the island to rise (Camping Roosdunen, 2019; VVV Ameland, 2019). The solar farm is unique because one third is owned by the local community through bonds provided by the AEC, another third by the Municipality and another by the company, Eneco, Solar, Bio & Hydro (AEC, sd). The parties are organised together in a private company (Zonnepark Ameland BV) and have different roles. The AEC was and is responsible for local support and engagement and does visual inspection (Kiewiet, 2019, van Tiggelen, 2019). The Municipality was responsible for the legal procedures, the plan making, the subsidy tracks and still is responsible for the financial administration (van Tiggelen, 2019). Eneco was responsible for the installation of the solar farm and currently does the technical monitoring of the solar farm (ENECO, 2019). The park is enclosed on the southern and western borders with a 4m tall wall. The south-eastern side also contains a wetland, that was brought up to contribute to the biodiversity of the area. The wall is meant to keep the panels out of sight (Rho Adviseurs, 2014). The park is located between multiple nature areas, on the north side lies the Natura 2000 area, 'Duinen Ameland', and in the east and south, the park borders NNN-areas that are also designated as a goose foraging area. In addition to the nature values, the landscape values of the area are the openness of the polder and the view that this openness provides on the surrounding landscapes (Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019; Rho adviseurs, 2014). Within the local community, there was some debate about the location of the park, mostly on impacts on both these nature and landscape values (Leeuwarder Courant, 2014; Leeuwarder Courant, 2014a). A functional map and aerial photo of the solar farm can be seen in Figure 9. As stated before, the solar farm is located on the airfield of Ameland. This airfield is used for small civil air traffic, gliders, rescue/emergency flights (AIS, 2019), parachuting and other recreational uses; and it is owned and operated by the Municipality of Ameland (Gemeente Ameland, 2019b). The airport is the only airport on the five Wadden islands and was built in 1945, just after the WWII, by local volunteers and the Municipality of Ameland to relieve the island from isolation and to aid in the aerial defence of the country (van der Brink & Nagtegaal, 2007). The airfield is often thought to be an additional asset for the recreational value of the island (Ameland, 2012; Stichting OMA, 2014; Peters, 2014). Parts of the airfield have also been in agricultural use, in a lease from the Municipality (LTO-Noord, 2014; van Tiggelen, 2019) to produce fodder (LTO-Noord, 2014; van der Brink & Nagtegaal, 2007).



Figure 9. Functional map and aerial photo of Zonnepark Ameland and its' surroundings. Source: (Esri Nederland(a), 2019; Google, 2019; Provincie Fryslân, 2019).

#### Results

In this chapter the results of the case study are presented. The first paragraph contains a description of the relevant stakeholders of the case and is followed by an analyses of the factors within the first boundary of SLOs, legitimacy. After legitimacy, the social impacts of the project are considered. The second boundary of the SLO framework, credibility is analysed after that and this paragraph also contains an analyses of the factors of public participation and community engagement. The last paragraph contains an analyses of the highest level of Trust(worthiness). A synthesis of and reflection on the results is given in the discussion chapter that comes after the results.

#### Stakeholders and communities

Most of the stakeholders within the case of Zonnepark were local stakeholders from the island. These different local stakeholders can be place in five broad categories: local residents and businesses, users of the airfield and land on the airfield, NGOs, and legislative and granting parties.

#### Local residents and businesses

This group consists of local stakeholders that are either inhabitants of and/or business on Ameland. These stakeholders can be categorized as communities of place, because they are located on the island, but also as communities of interest because they have different interests related to the island. Their proximity to the solar farm or interest related to the location of the solar farm, determines their extent of being impacted by the project. Inhabitants near the solar farm can for instance experience impacts on their view. Three factors of the case have increased the extent of influence of local stakeholders on the project, namely public participation in decision-making or/and through membership of AEC and ownership of bonds within the solar farm. Examples of these stakeholders are the recreation companies and residents near the solar farm.

#### Users of the airfield

There are two kinds of users of the airfield. The first are those who use the airfield for aviation activities, for instance the glider club and parachutists. Second are the parties that lease the land for other activities, either for agriculture or skeet shooting. The stakeholders related to aviation are more regional stakeholders and communities of interest, because activities like gliding and parachuting are mostly done by tourists and other people from outside the island (Skydive Ameland, 2014; Zweefvliegclub Ameland, 2014). The extent of impact is quite high because there are increases in risks for these users because of the solar farm (Rho adviseurs, 2014). For some this caused impacts on their use of the airfield and the safety of their practices. Additionally, the glider club claimed that they could not use the airfield anymore, because of the project (Zweefvliegclub Ameland, 2019), however, this issue remains complex and is discussed further below. The aviation users did have some influence on the project because, in response to their concern, a safety survey was done and the design of the solar farm was altered (van Tiggelen, 2019). The other land-based users, the farmers and skeet-shooters, are local stakeholders that are both communities of place and interest. The extent of impact on the famers was high because they lost farming land due to the project (de Jong, 2019a; LTO-Noord, 2014; van Tiggelen, 2019). They did have some financial influence on the project because their lease-contract had to be compensated by the Municipality (van Tiggelen, 2019).

#### NGOs

Multiple NGOs were involved in the process, including nature and landscape protection organisations: Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (Nature organisation Ameland), Vogelwachten Hollum-Ballum and Nes en Buren (local Bird protection organisations), VANG (Agrarian nature and geese shelter organisation) and Wildbeheereenheid Ameland (wildlife management unit Ameland). Other NGOs were the LTO-Noord, department Ameland (Dutch horticulture and agriculture organisation), Stichting OMA (local heritage protection foundation), and VVV Ameland (local tourist board/organisation). These NGOs can be considered as local stakeholders and communities of

interest. They can also be considered as communities of place, because most representatives and members are from Ameland. Only the LTO and VVV are also nationally and regionally operating NGOs (LTO, 2019; VVV, 2019). The nature and landscape NGOs all stated that their interest, the protection of nature and/or landscape values, was or would be impacted because of the project (Leeuwarder Courant, 2014; Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019; VANG, 2014; Vogelwachten Ameland, 2014). The LTO experienced impact because of loss of agricultural land due to the project (LTO-Noord, 2014; de Jong, 2019a) and Stichting OMA claimed nature, landscape and financial impacts related to their interests (Stichting OMA, 2015). VVV Ameland (2019) asserts not to be impacted by the project. The extent of influence of the nature and landscape NGOs was high because they were made responsible for the design of the nature plan of solar farm (Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, van Tiggelen, 2019). LTO only had influence via their members that leased the parcels on the airfield, because they were had to negotiate about their compensation with the Municipality. The nature and landscape NGOs along with the LTO and Stichting OMA also influenced the project by issuing a location survey for the solar farm that was honoured by the municipal council (Gemeente Ameland, 2014). VVV Ameland had no influence on the project (VVV Ameland, 2019).

#### Proponents

Zonnepark Ameland has two local proponents, the Municipality of Ameland and the AEC. Both are communities of place, because they are based on the island, and communities of interest, because their goal is to transition to renewable energy systems (Kiewiet, 2019; Gemeente Ameland, 2019). AEC is a local energy cooperation from Ameland and has the aim to deliver sustainable energy andco<sub>2</sub>-ofsetted (compensated) gas to users on Ameland (AEC, 2019). The AEC is also part of Energie van Ons (energy from/of us) (AEC, 2019a), which is a collaboration of local energy cooperation within the three northern provinces. The AEC and the Municipality are also partners within the organisation of Duurzaam Ameland, which is a collaboration and covenant of companies, governments and universities with the goal to make Ameland self-sustainable (Duurzaam Ameland(a), 2019; Kiewiet, 2019). The third proponent ENECO is also partner in this covenant and is an international energy company. ENECO can be considered as a societal stakeholder and community of interest, because they have an interest in producing renewable energy (ENECO, 2019). Being the proponents, their extent of impact on the project was high. The Municipality can be regarded as having the highest impact, because they initiated the plan, organised the public participation, are owners of the land and were the decision-making authority (van Tiggelen, 2019). The AEC mostly impacted the community engagement processes by providing membership, benefits and voting power to inhabitants and business owners on the island (Kiewiet, 2019). ENECO had the least influence on the project and had most impact on the financial and technical aspects of the project (ENECO, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019). The extent of impact of the project on these proponents are the financial gains and the benefits of producing renewable energy.

#### Other legislative and grating parties

Three other stakeholders also played a role within Zonnepark Ameland, namely Province of Fryslân, the Waddenfonds and the Dutch state. Both the Waddenfonds and the Province are regional/societal stakeholders with the Province being the legislative authority for Friesland and the Waddenfonds being a development fund for the Dutch Waddensea region (Dekker, 2005). The State is a societal stakeholder. As governments, the Province and the State are communities of interest and as a development fund the Waddenfonds is also a community of interest. The impact of all stakeholders was financial: the Waddenfonds granted the project €2,650,000 (Waddenfonds, 2019), the Province €331,681 (ENECO, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019), and the State provides a subsidy of 13 cents per produced kWh (RVO, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019). The Province also impacted the project by providing a license (Provincie Fryslân, 2014). The State and Province are impacted because the solar farm produces renewable energy in line with their ambition to increase the production of renewable energy (Provincie Fryslân, 2019; RVO, 2019).

#### Legitimacy: from withheld to acceptance

This section presents the results from an analyses covering the factors that make up the first boundary of the SLO continuum, legitimacy. Legitimacy forms a boundary between the level of withdrawal, where there is no SLO obtained from a stakeholder, and the level of acceptance, that forms the base-level of SLOs (Thomson & Boutilier, 2011). First, the indicators of withheld are examined followed by the three dimensions of legitimacy: legal and administrative, economic, and socio-political (Moffat & Zhang, 2014; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011). Lastly, the results of the indicators of acceptance are explored.

#### Indicators of withheld

In the case of Zonnepark Ameland, boycotts, protests or blockades did not occur. Three opposing stakeholders, LTO, Stichting Oma, Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, threatened with legal challenges but did not act on them (Gemeente Ameland, 2014; Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019). According to Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019), they did not pursue because they lacked financial means. Another opposing stakeholder, ZCA (glider club Ameland), did file a lawsuit against the Municipality as one of the proponents of Zonnepark Ameland (Leeuwarder Courant, 2016). The ZCA filed a lawsuit because their national association, the KNVvL, refused to cover the risks of the glider pulling cable breaking and damaging the panels of the solar farm in their insurance (ZCA, 2019). This cable is located on the airfield and pulls the gliders into the air (KNVvL, 2016). To address this, the ZCA wanted the Municipality to replace the current steel cable with a plastic cable (ZCA, 2016). Since the Municipality refused to pay for the replacement, the ZCA filed a lawsuit against the Municipality (Leeuwarder Courant, 2016). The lawsuit was lost by the ZCA (KNVvL, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019). The present situation is that the ZCA no longer operates out of Ameland.

#### Legal and administrative legitimacy and procedural fairness

For the development of Zonnepark Ameland, the proponents had to adhere to laws and had to follow certain procedures. In this section, these laws and procedures are described, along with the perceptions of the different stakeholders on how fair and just these laws and procedures were followed.

#### The environmental permit procedure

In the Netherlands, an environmental permit is needed when a planned development is not allowed within the zonal plan (Rijkswaterstaat, 2019). Zonnepark Ameland also required this permit (Rho adviseurs, 2014). Within the application for the permit, an assessment of the environmental impacts must be done, and it has to be made clear that the development or activity aligns with current policies and laws (Rho adviseurs, 2014; Rijkswaterstaat, 2019). The Municipality, along with other relevant governments like the Province, assesses these aspects, and is the authority that grants or denies the permit (Rijkswaterstaat, 2019). In the case of Zonnepark Ameland, this caused a possible conflict of interest, because the Municipality was both the issuer of the permit and a proponent of the project. One member of the municipal council considered that the Municipality should not be participant in a company, but should instead draw up regulations for developments (IJnsen, 2012). However, both the Municipality and other interviewees stated that they did not see this as a conflict of interest (Camping Roosdunen, 2019; Residents near the project, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019; VVV Ameland, 2019). The Municipality claimed that the project manager of the solar farm was not the person responsible for the permit procedure, and that this was handled by another department within the Municipality (van Tiggelen, 2019). On the issue, that the Municipality was the owner of the park as well as the issuer of the permit, two residents near the project said:

'That is okay for me, we should not be dependent on ENECO. These big bodies only want profit. Especially with renewable energy, the Municipality should be a pioneer and hold the developments within their own grasp.' (Residents near Zonnepark Ameland, 2019). According to the local tourist organisation, this increased even increased the acceptance of the project:

"Yes that is also good for local support, that the money so to say doesn't go to the capital (as a metaphor for big companies). I think they have done right in that regard." (VVV Ameland, 2019).

Other issues concerning the permit where the assessments of the project's impacts on nature, on safety and on the use of the airfield. The development application asserted that the project would not cause any negative impacts on nature and that there would be no disproportionate impacts on the safety or use of the airfield (Rho adviseurs, 2014). According to three nature and landscape organisations, the assessment of the impacts on nature was inadequate (Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019; VANG, 2014; Vogelwachten Ameland, 2014) and of a low-quality standard (Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019). Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019) argued that there were impacts of the solar farm that remained unclear, for instance if the birds and other species perceive the solar farm as an obstacle within the natural environment. To mitigate some of the impacts on nature and to add value to the plan, a landscape plan for the solar farm was designed (Rho adviseurs, 2014; van Tiggelen, 2019). However, this plan was not carried out as described within the permit. The planted bushes, which had the purpose to keep the solar farm out of sight on the eastern and northern side (Rho adviseurs, 2014), did not survive (Kiewiet, 2019; Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019). The artificial dunes that were created were different from the original design, because in the design they had a height of 2,5m, so the existing dunes north of the area would still be visible from the surrounding areas (Rho adviseurs, 2019). However, in the following construction, the dunes were made higher (Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019), by up to 4 metres (Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019), because a measurement mistake by workers of the Municipality (van Tiggelen, 2019). Additionally, the development application stated that the risks the solar farm poses for safety on the airfield were limited and that activities within the air could be continued safely, provided that additional safety instructions are given to users of the airfield. This assessment was carried out by the Netherlands Aerospace Centre (NLR) (Rho adviseurs, 2014). The ZCA (2014) did not agree with the assessment, because they considered the risks of possible damage to the solarpanels, due to the glider cable landing in the solar farm, to high. Furthermore, the skydiving company found that the assessment was inadequate and stated that the additional safety instructions were unclear (Skydive Ameland, 2014). Airport Ameland however, expressed that the safety assessment was adequate (Airport Ameland, 2019).

#### Provincial spatial and nature policies

In the Netherlands, Provinces are responsible for policies on spatial developments outside of villages and cities (Winsemius & Hirsch Ballin, 2006) and for the realisation and protection of nature areas (Rijksoverheid, 2019). Because the solar farm was a development outside of the villages of Ameland, the Province also became an approval authority. Although, the Province of Fryslân did not have policy on solar farms at the time (van Tiggelen, 2019), they gave, in consultation with the Municipality, their approval of the project (Rho adviseurs, 2014; van Tiggelen, 2019). Now the Province does have policy on solar farms (Provincie Fyslân, 2015) and a farmer from Ameland questioned whether the project would still be approved by the Province under this new policy (de Jong, 2019a). The Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019) also proclaimed that new procedures issued in this policy demands more regard for nature and landscape and that a similar approach should have been taken in the case of Zonnepark Ameland. In addition to this, the airfield Ameland was part of the NNN (then EHS) nature network at the time of the approval and would have prevented a solar farm being built there (Provincie Fryslân, 2018). However, this status was later changed by the Province, because according to them the airfield should not have been designated as NNN in the first place (Provincie Fryslân, 2014; van Tiggelen, 2019). Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019) are sceptical about this explanation and, along with other nature and landscape organisations, question if the status was not merely changed to approve the project (Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019; VANG, 2014; Vogelwachten Ameland, 2019).

#### Compensation and buy out of the farmers' leases

Zonnepark Ameland takes up 10 hectare of land, owned by the Municipality, that was previously used for agricultural purposes (van Tiggelen, 2019). Within Dutch civil law, the rights of leaseholders of land, especially for agriculture, are protected. This law includes hereditary transition rights and sets rules for terminations by the lessor (Rijksoverheid, 2019; RVO, 2017). This means that a lease contract cannot be terminated by the lessor without a substantiated reason (RVO, 2017) and that compensation has to be provided when a lease contract is terminated (Rijksoverheid, 2019).One reason by which a lease contract can be terminated is that of 'common interest'. This reason was also used by the Municipality. In order to compensate the farmers, the Municipality researched two options, the exchange of leasable land or financial compensation (van Tiggelen, 2019). For the farmers and LTO-Noord, an exchange of land was their preferred option, because their businesses depend on their amount of hectares of farmland (de Jong, 2013; LTO-Noord, 2014; VOF Het Zwanewater, 2014). However, due to limited and contested space on the island, only some farmers could be compensated with other land. The others had to be financially compensated based on the current value (van Tiggelen, 2019). The total amount of compensation costs was €246,000 (Gemeente Ameland, 2015). Although the farmers proclaimed that they would rather receive compensation in land, it is not clear if they considered the compensation to be fair, albeit one compensated farmer remained opposed (de Jong, 2019a). However, no legal challenges were filed against the termination of the lease contracts (van Tiggelen, 2019).

#### Grants, subsidies and state aid

Zonnepark Ameland BV received two grants for the realisation of the project and receives a subsidy per produced kilowatt-hour (Kiewiet, 2019). In the procedure for the grant from the Waddenfonds, one condition was that the grant should not constitute 'state aid' and should not result in unfair competition (in terms of EU understandings) (Waddenfonds, 2018). Although comments were made on the fact that project received 'a lot of public money' (Kiewiet, 2019), after some deliberation between the Municipality and the fund, the grant of €2,600,000 was not considered to be unfair state support (van Tiggelen, 2019). For the other grant from the Province and the subsidy from the Dutch state, this was not an issue (van Tiggelen, 2019; Kenniscentrum Europa decentraal, 2015). In contrast, the contributions of the Municipality could arguably be seen as state aid in that the Municipality did not open the lease of land and construction of the project for tender. A clear conclusion on whether or not this is an important issue cannot be made because there is still a lot of debate and uncertainty about whether giving land or other contracts for the purpose of producing renewable energy is considered state aid (Wiebes, 2019).

#### Economic legitimacy

In this section, the compensation, burdens, and distribution of benefits that are the result of Zonnepark Ameland, are reviewed. Additionally, the Municipality is one of the owners and gets its main source of income from local taxes. Because of this, the financial feasibility of the project and the Municipality itself are also analysed.

#### *Financial feasibility of the project and Municipality of Ameland*

Multiple stakeholders voiced their concerns about the financial feasibility of the project and negative effects of this on the budget of the Municipality. A family near the project voiced this in their legal objection:

"Financially it is quite a big risk and the returns will be virtually nil, with a low return rate. And [there will be] a lot of unforeseen obstacles during construction that will only be to the detriment of the

financial returns. It should not be the case that the taxpayer has to be the one to pay for this prestige project in the long term, especially now that we are in a financially-troubled period." (Residents near the project, 2014a).

These concerns about the risks of the project on the budget of the Municipality were shared by other stakeholders, including a local farmer (VOF Het Zwanewater, 2014) and a local heritage group (Stichting OMA, 2014). These matters were also voiced by multiple parties within the municipal council and were caused by a lot of uncertainties about the business case of the project (Gemeente Ameland, 2014; 2015). The initial the return on investment was calculated within the range of 0,2% to 2,6% (Rebel Energie, 2014), but later this was changed to 6% (Gemeente Ameland, 2015). Additionally, in its first two and a half years of operation, the solar farm was shown to be profitable (Duurzaam Ameland, 2019; Kiewiet, 2019), with the yields being higher than predicted because of greater solar radiation (AEC, 2018). Other than a return on investment, the Municipality also benefits from the project by revenue from the lease of the land (Oud, 2015) and through compensation for administrative and accounting tasks (van Tiggelen, 2019). In contrast, a critical note is given by one of the local farmers about the hidden public costs that might emerge when additional funds have to be spent on adaptions to the electricity systems, because of the increase in irregular energy production (de Jong, 2019a).

#### Burdens and compensation

The only financial compensation that was provided was for the termination of the farmers' lease termination. According to LTO-Noord (2014), without compensation for the loss of this land, agriculture on Ameland would face serious problems. Compensation with other farmlands was the preferred option for these farmers (LTO-Noord, 2014; De Jong, 2015) and the lessees were willing to cooperate in an exchange of farmlands (Gemeente Ameland, 2014a). Keeping the number of hectares of farmland is important for farmers because this determines how many animals they can keep and how much emissions they can expel (LTO-Noord, 2014; De Jong, 2015). Within the municipal Council, there was some critique on the compensation approach and some parties found that the farmers were engaged too late (Gemeente Ameland(a), 2014). As previously described, only one farmer could be compensated with other farmland, due to the limited availability of land on the island, whereas other farmers had to be financially compensated (van Tiggelen, 2019). Note, other stakeholders were not compensated. Albeit, most stakeholders did not think that they should be compensated, because they did not experience much burdens (Residents near project, 2019). Eneco (2019) also stated that, although compensation for residents near wind turbines is common, they do not compensate stakeholders near solar farms, because there are no effects like noise or shading. One stakeholder that did want compensation was the glider club for the replacement of their cable (ZCA, 2014). The Municipality offered to provide a loan for a new cable that could be paid off through a slight increase in the club's yearly lease payments (van Tiggelen, 2019). The ZCA however wanted to be compensated and filed a lawsuit against the Municipality to enforce the compensation. This case was lost by the ZCA (KNVvL, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019).

#### Distribution of benefits

The benefits of the solar farm are distributed between the three owners, the Municipality, ENECO and AEC (ENECO, 2019; Kiewiet, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019). The Municipality and the AEC are both local stakeholders, which means that two thirds of the revenue stay on Ameland. The AEC uses these revenues to develop new sustainable projects (Kiewiet, 2019) and distributed the benefits to local stakeholders by providing bonds in the solar farm. These bonds gave a return of 2,5% to 4% (AEC, 2018) and a total, 1,200 bonds of €250 were provided. These bonds were bought by over 80 applicants, 52 of who lived on the island and 28 who were owners of recreation dwellings (AEC, 2016). Multiple bonds per applicant could be bought, however applications with a lower amount of bonds got priority over applicants with higher amounts of bonds (AEC, sd; Kiewiet, 2019).

#### Socio-political legitimacy

Within this section, the factors of 'respect of local context', 'exploration of alternatives', of both location and measures, and the reputation of the proponents within the case are discussed. The perception whether the stakeholders found that they had access to all relevant information and if they found that they were being heard are also covered.

#### Respect of local context

Some of the opponents found that there were aspects within the local context that lacked consideration in project. In the permit application, the proponents stated that the parcels were just temporarily used for agriculture. However, the farmers' association found this to be a lack of respect, because they had been using the parcels for over 65 years (LTO-Noord, 2014). Stichting OMA (2014) followed this argument and proclaimed that the airfield has a historic and economic connection with the village of Ballum, because the inhabitants built the airfield themselves, and now this use is threatened by the solar farm. Albeit, a case could be made that a solarfarm that is largely initiated locally fits with this historic-economic connection. Another issue is voiced by the Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019) about the nature plan of the project, because some of proposed vegetation within the plan were not part of the local vegetation of Ameland. The Bird protection organisation also claimed that their knowledge of the local context was not consulted in the ecological impact assessment (Vogelwachten Ameland, 2014). Conversely, other stakeholders were of opinion that the project has shown respect for the local context because the project is in line with the cultural aspects of Ameland. A representative of a recreational company near the project was of opinion that the solar farm fitted in with the self-sustainable attitude of the Amelanders (Camping Roosdunen, 2019). The Director of the Tourist Board agrees with this in the following statement:

"But it does fit in with the identity of Ameland. Throughout the centuries people here on the island had to take care of their own needs and they had to live in a sustainable way. That is why islanders are self-sufficient and economical with their waste and these kinds of things. This mentality is still present on the island, also for energy" (VVV Ameland, 2019).

#### Exploration of alternatives

Th there was significant debate surrounding the project about the exploration of alternatives, especially regarding the location choice.

#### Alternative location

One of the first things the Municipality did was to find a suitable location for the solar farm. They based their search on three criteria. First the size, they calculated that 10 hectares were needed. A second criteria was that the land had to be property of the Municipality, and the third criteria was that there had to be as little nature policy restrictions on these lands as possible. Based on this, the Municipality concluded that the airfield was the most suitable location (van Tiggelen, 2019). However, a lot of the opposition was voiced against this location. Three stakeholders, Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019), Stichting OMA (2014), and ZCA (2019) said they did not oppose a solar park, rather this particular location. Since several alternative locations were suggested by different stakeholders, the Municipality issued a location survey for four different sites, of which one was the initial location. The different locations were analysed based on four criteria. The first was spatial; where does it fit in with the surrounding area and landscape? The second considered the suitability based on current policies. The third covered the available space and fourth was a practical criterion based on the attainability of the lands. This survey also concluded that the airfield was the most suitable location because the other three locations were either under 10 hectares, or were controlled under nature policy (Rho adviseurs, 2014). The location survey however did not end the debates because some stakeholders claimed that the quality of the survey was substandard (Gemeente Ameland, 2014; Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019) and that it was used to legitimize the location of the airfield (Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019). According to the Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019), the solar farm does not fit with the existing landscape, and according to the ZCA (2019) the project limits use of the airfield. Two other stakeholders came with additional locations that were not analysed within the survey and voiced these within a council meeting (de Jong, 2014; Gemeente Ameland, 2014). These additional locations were however also found unsuitable because of nature regulations and availability (Gemeente Ameland, 2014a). The nature criterion was rigid because solar farms are not allowed within nature areas. Another rigid criterion was that the location had to be at least 10 hectares. However, the size of the project was a cause of oppositions. A council member summed up the opinion within the council and concluded that the airfield was the 'Least worst option' (Tuil, 2014).

#### Alternative options

Along with alternative locations, alternative options to the solar farm were brought forward. Some stakeholders pointed out that the technical capability of solarpanels would develop and that solarpanels should be put on roofs (Gemeente Ameland, 2014). The Municipality claimed that not all houses in Ballum and the other villages can have solarpanels on their roofs because of their heritage status (Leeuwarder Courant, 2015). Other alternatives that were voiced were hydrogen and wind turbines. A project with hydrogen is already present on Ameland and was the first project Duurzaam Ameland (a), 2019). Windmills are not allowed on the island (Provincie Fryslân, 2018), nonetheless Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019) offered a solution for this by suggesting to add an extra wind turbine at a park on the North Sea. Other stakeholders suggested that a focus on saving energy should first be implemented instead of producing more energy (Persbureau Ameland, 2012). The Nature organisation suggested the development of an underwater tidal kite generating electricity as an interesting alternative (Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019). This tidal kite was a project affiliated with Duurzaam Ameland and was to be tested in 2020. The option was intended to come to market by 2022 (Elting, 2019).

#### Reputation of proponents

Remarks on the reputation of the proponents were mostly directed at the Municipality. A political party and Stichting OMA (2015) think that it is not the task of the Municipality to produce electricity. (Gemeente Ameland(b), 2015). Others also called it a prestige project of the Municipality and ENECO (de Jong, 2015; de Jong, 2019a). These critiques were also directed at the former Mayor, who claimed to be pro environment and renewable energy (Fierant, 2017) and came with the idea of a solar farm on Ameland (Kiewiet, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019). Some islanders said that he had his 'own agenda', while the task of a mayor is to be impartial and to stand above the different parties (Fierant, 2017). Other Amelanders however think it is positive that the Municipality 'sticks its neck out' in order to move towards a sustainable future (Kiewiet, 2015). VVV Ameland (2019) claims that involvement of the Municipality and the AEC was necessary for gaining local support and that this local support would have lacked if ENECO was the only proponent. Two residents near the solar farm support this in their interview:

# Yes, then we would have looked at it differently (if ENECO was the only owner). Then it would be another case, like here comes a big company only for the reason to make profit.' (Residents near the Zonnepark Ameland, 2019)

From these statements, it can be deduced that the ENECO did not have a high reputation, but that the AEC and the Municipality provided a better reputation for the Zonnepark Ameland BV. Furthermore, the local residents, Airport Ameland and a recreational company near the project also indicated that they trusted the proponents (Airport Ameland, 2019; Camping Roosdunen, 2019; Residents near the project, 2019). In contrast, the ZCA (2019) indicated that they did not trust the Municipality anymore.

#### Access to all relevant information

Within spatial-law procedures, some stakeholders claimed that they did not have access to all relevant information about the project. For instance, the LTO-Noord (2014) found some plans to be unclear and the Bird protection associations made similar comments (VANG, 2014; Vogelwachten, 2014). Furthermore, according to the users of the airfield, the ZCA and the skydiving club, the effects on the use and safety of the airfield were not clear (Skydive Ameland, 2014; ZCA, 2014). The Municipality responded to this by issuing the safety assessment and informed the other stakeholders about the unclear parts of the plans (Gemeente Ameland, 2019). Vogelwachten Ameland was in favour the approach taken by the Municipality in sharing the relevant information:

"If you wanted to read the reports or wanted to see some other aspects, you could visit the Municipality and review all the documents. ... So, there is not wrong with that aspect." (Brijker, 2018 in Zomerdijk, 2018).

#### Being heard

Not all stakeholders found that they were heard and treated in a reasonable manner. Stichting OMA for instance questioned the council on why they could not deliberate with the Municipality about the location (Gemeente Ameland, 2014). Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019) commented that their arguments were not always taken seriously:

"Yes, and if I say that to the Municipality, I do not get through to them and then the alderman just says: 'all right, next point'." (Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019).

The AEC did made a statement that there strategy was to take all concerns seriously and that they made effort in to fulfil this (Kiewiet, 2018 in Zomerdijk, 2018). Municipality Ameland also confirmed that this was an important aspect of their community engagement approach (Van Tiggelen, 2019). The Bird protection association found this approach to be sufficient and thought that, in addition to the legal objection, speaking at the council meetings and cooperating with the Municipality on the nature plan, there were not many options left (Brijker, 2018 in Zomerdijk, 2018).

#### Indicators of acceptance

Should all the dimensions and factors of legitimacy be in place, the project would pass the acceptance boundary. There were non outside NGOs present, only local NGOs were active that address lingering issues relating to the solar farm. In particular, Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019) still monitored the impact of the project on nature and considered that the nature plan had not been adequately executed.

#### Social impacts

The impacts of projects make up significant factors in obtaining SLOs. In order to reach economic legitimacy, the impacts, or burdens, must be outweighed by the benefits a project brings (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011). Additionally, an effective assessment of the impacts and the project's impacts on the social infrastructure are factors influencing the approval level of SLOs (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Moffat & Zhang, 2014; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011). Considering this, the social impacts of Zonnepark will be discussed separately in the paragraph. Those impacts can be categorized into impacts on nature, impacts on landscape, impacts on recreational value and business, and financial impacts. Note impacts on the airfield, in use and safety, also became apparent within the data.

#### Impacts on nature

The commonly named impacts were those affecting nature. Multiple nature organisations, local residents and farmers were concerned about impacts on the bird population in the area, especially

on protected waders and geese (Farmer near the project, 2014; de Jong, 2014; Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2014; Residents near the project, 2014; VANG, 2014; Vogelwachten Ameland, 2014). In addition, the Province pointed out that the area was an option area for wader-habitat (Provincie Fryslân, 2014). Impacts on the roe deer population were also feared by residents near the project and the wildlife management organisation of Ameland (Leeuwarder Courant, 2014; Residents near the project, 2014). Some of the stakeholders also showed concerns that the project would interfere with other nature developments in the area (Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2014) and that the project would have impact on the openness and quietness of the area that is vital for the species there (Leeuwarder Courant, 2014: Vogelwachten Ameland, 2018). The formal assessment of the impacts on nature claimed that the impacts on the nature were low and that with the nature and landscaping plan (see Figure 10), the project would have a positive impact (Rho Adviseurs, 2014). The Municipality added to this, that by law and other regulations, compensation for loss of nature or mitigation of impacts was not needed, but that the nature plan was erected to add value to the plan (van Tiggelen, 2019). Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019) and the Province (2014) suggested that the assessment was too positive about the added value of the nature plan. Conversely, Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019) suggested that the nature plan could be improved and noticed that some parts of the plan were not executed as designed. Since the project had been operational for almost three years, the impacts on nature and the effects of the nature plan became visible for the stakeholders. The local Bird protection organisation finds that there is limited impact on the bird population:

'On the airfield itself, the birds that were there are still there. Because of where the park is, there were not a lot of birds in the first place, but adjacent to it there were: Godwits, lapwings, redshanks, and oystercatchers. And these are still there. So, for that matter it was not too bad afterwards.' (Brijker, 2018 in Zomerdijk 2018).

Additionally, residents near the project (2019) do see some positive effects on the nature and say that there are more geese because of the of the of the water element of the plan and that there are many small birds on the location of the nature plan because of the vegetation there.



Description of nature and landscaping plan

1. Wetland area

2. Artificial dunes (15m wide and 2,5m in height) with maintenance strip between the ditch and the dune of around 5 to 10m

- 3. Solarpanels (10ha)
- 4. Planting strip 3m wide and 2m in height

Figure 10. Nature and landscaping plan. Source: Rho adviseurs (2014) adjusted by author.

- 5. Cable/winch track for the gliders 6. Helicopter landing and tank sites

#### Impacts on landscape

Along with the impacts on nature, impacts on landscape and view were voiced by the different stakeholders. For instance, Residents near the project (2014) feared that the project would hamper their view of the nature lands. Other stakeholders claimed that the free and open view on the dunes of Ameland would be taken away (de Jong, 2014; Residents near Zonnepark Ameland, 2014(a); Stichting OMA, 2014; VOF Het Zwanewater, 2014). To mitigate some of the impacts on the landscape and to cover the view of the panels, the proponents made a landscaping plan that consisted of an artificial dune being placed on the south and west side of the solar farm (Kiewiet, 2019; Rho adviseurs, 2014; van Tiggelen, 2019). However, these dunes were built higher than the initial plan (van Tiggelen, 2019) and therefore the view of the dunes in the north was obstructed even more. Both the Bird protection organisation and Natuurwerkgroep Ameland found this to be destructive of the current landscape (Brijker 2018 in Zomerdijk, 2018; Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019). The Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019) and a resident and business owner near the project (Tuinenga (2018) in Zomerdijk, 2018) also find that the whole of the solar farm should be taken out of sight. Other parts of the landscaping plan were found to be adequate by some. For instance two stakeholders feared glittering of the panels, but stated that they did not experience this (Camping Roosdunen, 2019; Tuinenga (2018) in Zomerdijk, 2018). Conversely, residents near the project (2019) find the landscaping plan a better option than a view over the solarpanels. Although they had to get used to the view and have now lost their view of the meadow birds and roe deer. Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019) and residents near the project (2019) see the impacts of Zonnepark Ameland as cumulative, because in the past there were multiple developments near and on the location that hurt the landscape:

'In the past there was a green plain and if you watched carefully you saw geese and roe deer and then you could see the lighthouse. Now you have a parking lot, then the airfield, a gas station and then a big glass barrier (the solar farm) and then you just see a small tip of the lighthouse. That is all in five years time.' (Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019)

#### Impact on recreational value and business

The quote above shows that impacts on the landscape and impacts on the experience of nature can be linked. This experience has been presented as an important factor drawing tourists to Ameland (Folmer et al., 2013; Sijtsma et al., 2012; VVV Ameland, 2019). This was a reason for some of the stakeholders with recreational businesses to fear that Zonnepark Ameland would hurt the attractiveness of the island. According to them, this could lead to a decline in tourist and income derived from these tourists. This concern was voiced by VOF Het Zwanewater (2014), residents near the project (2014a), Parc Koudenbrug (2014) and within the council meetings (Gemeente Ameland, 2014). Other residents near the project, that also owned recreational accommodations, explained:

## The free view that our guests enjoy will be obstructed. ... we expect a decline in guests. A decrease of revenue is hereby realistic. Our guests namely choose for quality of space, nature and a free view over the lands towards the dunes. (Residents near the project, 2014)

However, these residents did not experience this decline after the solar farm was installed (Residents near the project, 2019). Similarly, another camping site near the project did not experience any decline and mentioned that there were no negative reactions from their guests about Zonnepark Ameland, but that they only received questions from guests that were interested in the project (Camping Roosdunen, 2019). The Director of VVV Ameland (2019) also mentioned that they had not received any negative reactions from their customers or from recreation entrepreneurs. Further, he pointed out that there was no decline in guests coming to Ameland and, in contrast to that, the group of tourists interested in sustainable destinations had been growing.

#### Impacts on agriculture

The farmers that previously used the lands of the solar farm claimed to be impacted because their loss of farmland. This was voiced by two of the farmers that leased land at the airfield, VOF het Zwanewater (2014), Residents near the project (2014a), and by the local farmers association (LTO, 2014). According to the association, the lands were not only important for providing food for their cattle but also for the rest of their business. In the Netherlands the amount of subsidies, cattle and allowed pollutants mostly depend on the amount of farmlands a farmer leases or owns. Some farmers could be compensated with other land, but because the scarcity of farmland on the island, the remaining farmers received financial compensation (van Tiggelen, 2019). The Municipality stated that the farmland on the location was of poor quality (van Tiggelen, 2019). However, the Chairman of the LTO did mention that the farmers would prefer compensation with land over financial compensation (Gemeente Ameland, 2014). The Chairman is also Director VOF Het Zwanewater and mentioned that he was still against the project also after the compensation was given (de Jong, 2019a).

#### Impact on use and safety of the airfield

Besides the use of the site as farmland, the airfield is also used for aviation activities. Part of the users anticipated that the safety of their operation and their use of the airfield would be negatively impacted by the solar farm. Skydive Ameland (2014) and residents near the project (2014) anticipated that parachutists could drift away and land within the solar farm causing dangerous situations. Skydive Ameland (2014) also brought up the possible effects of glare from the panels disorienting the parachutists and the effects of an influx in wind flows over the panels that could disturb flightpaths. The glider club's use of the airfield was also anticipated to be impacted because of the risks of the cable landing in the solarpanels and thereby damaging these panels, that could not be covered by their insurance (ZCA, 2014). Adding to the concerns above, were the possible negative impacts on the recreational value of the airfield that could limit the aviation activities these businesses offered (Skydive Ameland, 2014; ZCA, 2014). These possible impacts were analysed in a safety assessment survey. This survey concluded that aviation activities on the airfield could be continued in a safe way, provided that the solar farm would be relocated some meters southward and additional safety procedures were provided to the users of the airfield (Rho adviseurs, 2014). These measures were taken (van Tiggelen, 2019) and all of these activities, except for air gliding, were being continued. The control and management of the airfield, Airport Ameland, was also positive about Zonnepark Ameland (Airport Ameland, 2019). The air glider club however claimed that their activities could not be continued because of the expected risks (ZCA, 2019). They asserted that because the Municipality would not fully compensate them for the replacement of the cable (Leeuwarder Courant, 2016a) they had to suspend their activities (ZCA, 2019).

#### Financial impact

Concerns about the financial impacts of the project were also discussed in the previous sections, however stakeholders also voiced another concern regarding the impacts of the project on the financial feasibility of the Municipality. VOF Het Zwanewater (2014) and residents near the project (2014) stated that the rate of return was unclear and therefore they worried that loss on the project would be recovered through municipal taxes on businesses and inhabitants of the island. This was also raised in the council meetings (Gemeente Ameland, 2014; Gemeente Ameland(b), 2015). It was shown that the project was profitable, and the negative financial impacts were not realized. This was discussed more thoroughly in the section 'Economic legitimacy' (p. 31-32).

#### Credibility: from acceptance to approval

In this paragraph the credibility level between the levels of acceptance and approval (Thomson & Boutilier, 2019) will be explored. This boundary consists of the proponents' commitment to social performance, the competence of the proponents and their understanding and respect of the local context. The factors of public participation and effective community engagement are, because of their importance in obtaining a SLO, explored in separate sections.

#### Proponents commitment to social performance

#### Assessment and consideration of issues

The proponents made the consideration of issues, brought forward by inhabitants of Ameland or other stakeholders, a main focus in their strategy (Kiewiet, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019). The assessment of environmental impacts was already part of the legal procedure (Rho adviseurs, 2019). The nature and landscape organisations voiced some critique on this assessment. The organisations for protection of birds did not agree with the assessment of the impacts on birds because not all relevant information about the bird population residing on the location was used (VANG, 2014; Vogelwachten Ameland, 2014). The Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019) also found that both the nature and landscape values were not considered well enough by the proponents. According to them, the environmental impact assessment was of poor quality and the landscaping plan was not executed properly. They stated that the plan hurt the landscape because the walls are too high, and therefore inhibited the view on the dunes. Both should have been considered better according to them:

Well yes, I do think that on the Waddenislands these (nature and landscape values) should be considered more carefully. Well everywhere in the Netherlands, but especially on the Wadden islands.' (Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019).

The issue of compensation of farmers was also contested, because not all farmers received their desired compensation in land and because some stakeholders thought that they should have been involved earlier in the process (Gemeente Ameland(b), 2014 Persburo Ameland(a), 2014). The glider club was also of the opinion that their issues were not considered adequality (ZCA, 2019), although the Municipality found that they provided them enough options to proceed with their activities (van Tiggelen, 2019). Another issue that was not considered adequately according to Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019), Stichting OMA, ZCA (2019) and de Jong (2014) was the issue of the location choice. They find that the process should have been more open, and they wanted to be involved earlier in the process.

#### Compliance with national, international, social and environmental standards

The proponents of Zonnepark Ameland had to adhere to national and regional law. Both the Province and the Municipality found that the project complied to these laws (Gemeente Ameland, 2014c; Provincie Fryslân, 2014). Recently, a code of conduct for solar farm developers has been made by the Dutch solar industry organisation 'Holland Solar' along with national and international nature and landscape organisations. This code of conduct sets standards for the development of solar farms that comprised of use of space and limiting impacts on landscape, view, biodiversity, food production, soil quality. Participations of citizens in the decision-making processes, co-ownership and financial involvement of inhabitants and businesses in the surrounding area(s) are also standards within this code of conduct (Holland Solar, 2019). ENECO has singed this code of conduct as developer of solar farms (ENECO, 2019). The aspects within the code of conduct adhere to some of the factors for obtaining SLOs, therefore compliance with this code of conduct in the approach of developers might improve the levels of SLOs obtained for solar farms.

#### Openness, transparency and good governance

The proponents' strategy was to be open and to involve the communities at an early stage. In the first phase of this strategy the Municipality contacted the residents and farmers near the projected location directly after they had established their preferred location (Kiewiet, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019). One household that was contacted said that they were content with the information that the Municipality provided (Residents near the project, 2019). According to the municipal project manager, this approach was vital for the success of the project (van Tiggelen, 2019). Conversely, one farmer found that he wanted to be involved earlier in the process (de Jong, 2014). Information was presented to stakeholders in other formats, including news reports and public meetings (Kiewiet, 2019). The Bird protection association thought that, within the permit procedure, the proponents were transparent in their plans and that access was given to all relevant information (Brijker, 2018 in Zomerdijk, 2018). However, various stakeholders were of opinion that transparency was lacking, because the location was already chosen, and a location survey was held after that location was already chosen. Additionally, Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019) and de Jong (2014) believed that the criteria were purposefully chosen to match the location on the airfield. The director of VVV Ameland (2019) thinks that If the proponents had been more transparent when identifying a location, they would have gained more support from these stakeholders. He and the representative of a camping site near the location also asserted the proponents could provide more information about and could promote their sustainable projects more towards tourists (Camping Roosdunen, 2019; VVV Ameland, 2019).

#### Monitoring

Only technical performance and potential damages to the solar farm were being monitored by ENECO and the AEC (Kiewiet, 2019; ENECO, 2019). The impacts of the park however were not monitored (van Tiggelen, 2019). At first, the nature plan of the project was being monitored by the Municipality and the nature organisations that cooperated in this plan, but later this was not the case anymore. Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019) found this is a lost opportunity because the nature plan did not develop as expected and because they believed that the nature values within the project can be improved with additional measures.

#### Competence of the project proponents have to act on promises made

Not all promises made by the proponents were held. The nature component was not realised according to the initial plan, because the walls were built to high and the planting on the north and west side did not last (Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019). According to Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019), the Municipality also lacked competence in the assessment of the impacts on nature. The glider club also claimed that the Municipality did not act on the promise made to them about compensation for the replacement of the cable (Leeuwarder Courant, 2016), although the Municipality refuted this claim (van Tiggelen, 2019). Other stakeholders were more positive about the competence of the proponents, for instance residents near the project (2019), Airport Ameland (2019) and VVV Ameland (2019) were of the opinion that the proponents did show competence within the project of Zonnepark Ameland. However, the residents near the project (2019) did question if the Municipality and the other proponents were competent enough to realize the promises made about making the island completely self-sufficient by 2030.

#### Proponents' understanding of and respect for the local context

Two main components of understanding and respect for the local context are provision of (proper) public participation and effective communitive engagement (Gunningham et al. 2006; Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Meesters & Behagel, 2017; Moffat & Zhang, 2013; Pro & Slocombe, 2014; Smits et al. 2017). These two components are considered within this section. Other components of respect of the local context were discussed previously in the section 'Socio-political legitimacy' on page 33.

#### Public participation

The three proponents of Zonnepark Ameland wanted to involve the communities on Ameland within their project (Kiewiet, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019). The Municipality did this by consulting the stakeholders on and near the intended location of the solar farm. The municipal project manager believed it was vital to contact these stakeholders at an early stage, 'even before something was written on paper' (van Tiggelen, 2019). Residents near the project (2019) were content with this approach, and local representation in the decision-making process was provided by the local energy cooperation AEC. The AEC consists of local inhabitants and business owners and these members were given the chance to vote about the project (Kiewiet, 2019). The majority of them voted in favour (Persburo Ameland, 2014). Their Director stated that if the members would have voted against the project, they would have pulled out of the venture (Kiewiet, 2018 in Zomerdijk, 2018). Additionally, the Municipality cooperated with different nature and landscape organisation in the design of the nature component (Brijker, 2018 in Zomerdijk 2018, Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019). Both the Bird protection and the Nature organisation were not completely content with the design and realisation, because they found the nature component too small and found that the plan was not designed in consideration of the conditions and context of the area (Brijker, 2018 in Zomerdijk, 2018; Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019). The Natuurwerkgroep Ameland (2019) wanted additional changes to the plan in order to improve the nature values of the area and Vogelwachten Ameland wanted to be involved in the assessment of impacts on the bird population (Brijker, 2018 in Zomerdijk 2018). Most opposition voiced by stakeholders against the project concerned the location choice of the solar farm. Other stakeholders, like Stichting OMA (2015), also wanted to be involved in the location choice and asked: 'Why are citizens not involved in this?' A local council member, after hearing the opposition against the location, even proposed to have a referendum about the project at that location (Wijnberg, 2014), but this request was not honoured by the majority of the council (Gemeente Ameland, 2014b). VVV Ameland (2019) believed that earlier involvement of the different stakeholders in the decision-making, including in the location choice, would have helped to get more acceptance/approval:

'They (the proponents) should have involved the stakeholders in the surrounding area earlier. Now the location was already decided for. They should have consulted with the people about where the solar farm could have been placed. Maybe they would have come to the same location, but now it was set to much in stone and this evokes annoyance with people.' (VVV Ameland, 2019).

They also found that the tourists could have been involved by surveying them at the main office of the VVV (VVV Ameland, 2019).

#### Community engagement

Public participation can be seen as a component within community engagement strategies; in this section the other components of community engagement are covered. The proponents agreed that the AEC would be responsible for the community engagement, although the Municipality also contributed to this process (van Tiggelen, 2019). Their engagement strategy started with the consultation of stakeholders near and lessees of land at the site (van Tiggelen, 2019). Next, the AEC held public meetings and published news reports via a local news website to make their plans available (Kiewiet, 2019). The owners of the solar farm also wanted to provide benefits to the local communities, by offering them ownership in the project. They did this by making 1.200 bonds for a total amount of €300.000 available. The criteria for applicants was that they either had to be an inhabitant of Ameland or that they had an economic connection with the island (Kiewiet, 2019). Multiple bonds per applicant could be bought, however applications with a lower amount of bonds got priority over applicants with higher amounts of bonds (AEC, sd; Kiewiet, 2019). According to ENECO, local ownership is an important strategy in gaining approval for projects, because through this the project can add value for the local communities and they found that working with local cooperation is a good way to gain goodwill within these local communities (ENECO, 2019).

Another group of stakeholders on the island, the tourist and the tourist sector, were not part of the engagement strategy (Kiewiet, 2019). The tourist board and local camping facility believed this to be a missed opportunity to promote the sustainable character of the island (Camping Roosdunen, 2019; VVV Ameland, 2019). VVV Ameland (2019) adds, that they wanted to be involved more in the process leading up to the project.

The farmers' association also wished that they had been involved earlier and wanted compensation in form of land rather than financial compensation (LTO, Noord 2014; de Jong, 2015). The nature and landscape organisation also desired to be involved earlier, in the impact assessment stage (Brijker, 2018 in Zomerdijk, 2018; VANG, 2014) and in the phase after the realisation of the project to make additional adaptations to the nature plan (Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019). Additionally, the glider club were not content with the way they were treated by the Municipality (ZCA, 2019). Additionally, not involving the communities in the location choice was a significant factor of the opposition against the project. In contrast, other stakeholders do find that the local embeddedness of the project, through involvement of the AEC and the Municipality of Ameland, was a good strategy that strengthened the trust and acceptance of the project (Camping Roosdunen, 2019; Residents near the project, 2019; VVV Ameland, 2019). VVV Ameland (2019) adds to this that Zonnepark Ameland is exemplary for the identity of Ameland (see also the quote on p.33).

#### Indicators of approval

Few comments were made that matched the indicators of approval. An inhabitant of Ameland said he thinks it is good that the proponents *'put their neck on line'* for a sustainable island (Kiewiet, 2015). The civil servant responsible for the project also thinks that a lot of islanders are proud of the project:

'Well, in the beginning, some people were a bit against the project, but when they heard that the park was installed and they were on vacation in Limburg (South-NL) for instance, then they were proud of it, even though they had nothing to do with it. ... So now you hear that more people are proud of it that those who say they are against it' (van Tiggelen, 2019).

#### Trust(worthiness): from approval to psychological identification

Psychological identification is the highest level of the SLO continuum and follows out of high levels of acceptance and approval (Thomson and Boutilier, 2019). Trustworthiness is analysed in this paragraph by an assessment of the overall trust that the stakeholders have in the proponents, how active the communities were involved, the extent to which attention was paid to marginalized groups and the extent to which the proponents have shown understanding of the plurality of the communities. Additionally, the presence of the physical indicators of trust: political support, comanagement of activities and cooperation against critics, are considered.

#### Trustworthiness in general

Naturally the stakeholders that were positive about the legitimacy (acceptance) and credibility (approval) of the project also trust the proponents of Zonnepark Ameland more than the stakeholders that were negative about the factors making up these two boundaries.

Stichting OMA (2015) for instance is of the opinion that the council has been fooled by the proponents because: *"the Municipality first said to not want to spend money on the project, but later did contribute to the solar farm."* The former Mayor was also distrusted by some of the members of the communities on Ameland, because his active involvement in decision-making, especially concerning sustainable projects like Zonnepark Ameland (Fierant, 2017).

Local farmer and recreational entrepreneur de Jong (2019a) adds to this that the proponents initiated the project mainly because they wanted to get a good image with the public. The air glider club declares to be highly disappointed in the Municipality and to 'not trust them anymore' (ZCA, 2019). Conversely, the stakeholders within the vicinity of the project, Airport Ameland (2019), Camping Roosdunen (2019), Tuinenga, 2018 in Zomerdijk 2018 and residents near the project (2019) all indicate that they trust the proponents. The residents near the project also assert that this trust should be given to these proponents:

Yes, we do trust them, we have nothing negative to say about them. The do their best, all three. They want to realise it all (the self-sustainability of the island). Therefor we should give this our trust. (Residents near the project, 2019).

#### Active involvement of the communities within the decision-making process

The involvement of the communities within the decision-making process is covered within the 'Public participation' section on page 41 in the Credibility paragraph.

#### Understanding of the plurality of communities

The proponent responsible for engagement with the communities, the AEC and the Municipality, showed some indication that they understood the plurality of the communities on Ameland. The AEC found it important that an open discussion was held where all inhabitants could voice their opinion and thought that with a local cooperation this discussion could be enhanced (Kiewiet, 2019). However, VVV Ameland (2019) asserted that the tourists were not considered within this discussion and wished that they had a voice in the decision-making. The Municipality stated to understand the different stakeholders in the project, for instance the farmers and their dependence on land. They also asserted that there were a lot of different stakeholders that all wanted something different per square meter on the island. However, in the interview the project manager did question the legitimacy of some of the opposition by writing them of because they did not have enough support or by stating that their claim of impact was not legitimate (van Tiggelen, 2019).

#### Attention to marginalized groups

Within the Zonnepark Ameland, there was no attention given to marginalized groups. The AEC did try to make the bonds accessible to as many inhabitants as possible, by giving participants with the least amount of bonds priority over participants that wanted to buy more bonds (van Tiggelen, 2019). Additionally, ENECO (2019) stated that they did not have strategies for marginalized groups within the communities. In wind energy projects, ENECO did claim to provide free benefits to residents near the wind turbines, but this was not the case with solar projects, because according to them the impacts of solar farms are smaller. They also believed that enough benefits were provided by producing renewable energy for the local communities in the vicinity of the project (ENECO, 2019).

#### Trust indicators

In the following sections the three indicators of trust are considered.

#### Political support

From the first phase of the project, there was political support for the solar farm. The Mayor even was the one who initiated the project (ENECO, 2019; Kiewiet, 2019; van Tiggelen, 2019). Furthermore, the council of the Ameland had set a goal for the island to become self-sustaining by 2030 (Gemeente Ameland, 2019) and in the final decision-making moment the whole council voted in favour of the project (Gemeente Ameland, 2015a). Some parties did voice critique during the process and voted against some earlier decision making moments (Gemeente Ameland, 2014c), however the majority of the council always was in favour (Gemeente Ameland, 2014; Gemeente Ameland, 2014d). The municipal project manager thinks that the goal set by the council was decisive

for this political support, but also the fact that everybody of the island could profit from the project and because the farmers were compensated (van Tiggelen, 2019).

#### Co-management of activities

Two of the proponents are local stakeholders and according to ENECO (2019) this form of local cooperation was their preferred way to develop solar projects. Various stakeholders were positive about the local involvement within the project (Residents near the project, 2019; Tuinenga, 2018 in Zomerdijk, VVV Ameland, 2019). Another activity where the proponents cooperated with other stakeholders was the design of the nature plan, although both the Vogelwachten Ameland and the Natuurwerkgroep were not completely satisfied with the eventual plan and its' outcomes (Brijker, 2018 in Zomerdijk 2018; Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019).

#### Cooperation against critics

Stakeholders that showed support for the project, like VVV Ameland (2019) did not agree with the argument used by opposition that the project could impact the recreational value of Ameland and claimed that there were no negative impacts on tourism on Ameland. Support was also shown on social media in comments on critical posts about the project. One inhabitant of Ameland for instance thought that it was good that the proponents *'put their neck on the line'* (Kiewiet, 2015) and another considered the project a good start to come to a sustainable future for the island (Spoelstra, 2015).

#### Discussion: SLO outcomes

The results of the case study of Zonnepark Ameland show that some levels of SLOs were obtained, from the stakeholders within the related communities. However, there were also stakeholders that voiced critique on the project and its proponents and therefore withdrew SLOs or gave lower levels of SLOs. The accounts of these and other stakeholders along with other data sources were used as input for the analyses of Zonnepark Ameland based on the theoretical framework of the SLO. Within this framework four different levels of SLOs are distinguished: withdrawal, acceptance, approval and psychological identification. The boundaries are between these levels are formed by legitimacy, between withdrawal and acceptance and approval, and trustworthiness, between acceptance, credibility, between approval and psychological identification (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011).

Stakeholders comprising the communities related to the case of Zonnepark Ameland were mostly local and were relevant because of their interest related to the site or project and/ or their proximity to the project. Most of the impacts that were felt and feared by the communities consisted of impacts on landscape, nature and the use and safety of the airfield. Additionally, impacts on agriculture and other financial impacts caused by inadequate compensation were claimed. Apparent in these impacts was the limited and contested space on the island. For every new development on Ameland, other interests are hurt, and other functions are limited. Some of the stakeholders did not give Zonnepark Ameland SLOs at the acceptance level; they withdrew their SLO. This was not only apparent in the filed lawsuit and other threats of lawsuits, but also in the contestedness of some procedures taken and in the perception of some (former) users of the airfield that adequate compensation was lacking. The compensation of farmers in land was for instance limited because of the lack of available land elsewhere. Additionally, the financial involvement of the Municipality as proponent caused a conflict of interest between the role as proponent, and its responsibility to ensure procedural fairness and to maintain impartiality. Some concerns about the feasibility of the project were also voiced, however economic legitimacy has been shown with the profitability of the project, the local ownership within the solar farm and the distribution of benefits to local inhabitants and business owners. This contributed significantly to the acceptance of the project. Regarding the respect of local context, some stakeholders found that the solar farm adhered to the local self-sustainable culture of the island. However, other stakeholders, especially related to the use of the site and interest in nature, claimed that respect and understanding of the local situation was lacking. This caused the impacts assessment on nature and the landscaping and nature plan to lack quality, which caused lingering issues within the case.

This respect for the local context was also shown in the local representation and ownership of the AEC and the Municipality within the project, which positively contributed to the factor level. of community engagement and therefore to obtaining SLOs at the approval However, a discrepancy emerges between the conflict of interests of the Municipality and the appreciated involvement of the Municipality. Although public participation was provided in some of the decision-making processes, it was lacking during decision-making process regarding the location of the project, which cause much resistance of several stakeholders. After the construction of the solar farm, monitoring of the nature plan and impacts was lacking. The construction of this nature plan was also not realised as designed and promised. This caused resentment of the nature organisations on the island because they found that their issues were not considered adequately by the proponents. Additionally, the glider club and the farmers, as (previous) users of the airfield, claimed that their concerns were not consider adequately either. The glider club found that they

should have been compensated for the impacts on their use of the airfield and the farmers would have preferred compensation in land instead of financial compensation. Furthermore, as indicator of approval, the communities of Ameland did show signs of pride of Zonnepark Ameland.

SLOs of the highest level, psychological identification (Thomson & Boutilier, 2011), is mainly gained through high rates of trust (Jijelava & Vanclay, 2018; Moffat & Zhang, 2014; Thomson & Boutilier, 2011). This trust was given by some members of the communities, for instance by residents and businesses near the solar farm as well as the tourism organisation. Some of the opposing stakeholders however showed that they did not trust the proponents. Although the proponents did indicate that they understood the plurality of the communities, some of the stakeholders within these communities were not included into the community engagement strategies and public participation processes, namely marginalized groups within the communities of Ameland, tourists and the tourism sector. Other signs of psychological identification were apparent in the political support for the project and in the cooperation against critics by some part of the local stakeholders. The proponents also conducted co-management of activities by cooperating with nature organisations in the design of the nature plan. However, these nature organisations were not content with the outcomes of this plan.

From these results, it can be concluded that some stakeholders did not give their SLOs, but that others did give of their SLOs, even reaching high levels of approval and psychological identification. In the case of Zonnepark Ameland, the stakeholders that did not give their SLOs were stakeholders that also claimed to be impacted the most by the project, namely some of the nature and landscape organisations and some of the (former) users of the location. In their perception, this was caused by the lack of adequate consideration of their issues and a lack of adequate consideration of the impacts caused by project. A related cause of this can be found in the limited and contested space on the island. In addition, the lack of participation in the decision making regarding the choice of location and the conflict of interest of the Municipality are causes of lower levels of SLOs. An improved approach, with consideration of these factors, could have increased the likelihood of the project obtaining SLOs from the communities and therefore could have resulted in higher level-SLOs. This could have been done by the local energy community AEC taking up a bigger part within the solar farm and with the Municipality withdrawing as proponent. Thereby the appreciated local representation and ownership could be retained and perceptions of partiality could be removed. The Municipality could have kept their role as facilitator of the public participation processes and to ensure all voices and issues were heard and considered. Thereby, the Municipality of Ameland could also ensure good governance by critically assessing the project and its proponents without assessing their own conduct. When this governance is not in place, Prno & Slocombe (2014) and Zhang et al (2015) claim that the acceptance, approval and trust of the industry of renewable energy could be damaged and therefore limiting other renewable projects form obtaining SLOs. Factors that did lead to acceptance and higher levels of SLOs could be found in the local embeddedness of the project. Both the local ownership of the solar farm and the local representation in the decision-making, that were provided by the local cooperation AEC, were important for this embeddedness. The community engagement and public participation strategies also contributed to higher level SLOs. The cooperation with other stakeholder and early engagement of relevant communities were important parts of these strategies. Another crucial factor of higher SLOs obtained were the adherence of the project to the self-sustainable culture and the sustainability goals of the Municipality. Higher levels of SLOs could have been obtained when the public participation and engagement strategies would have been applied earlier in the decision-making process and with consideration of more stakeholders, foremost the marginalized groups within the communities of Ameland.

#### Conclusion

The case study of Zonnepark Ameland was conducted to explore how renewable energy projects, especially solar farms, can obtain social licences to operate. As the urgency and measures for a future with renewable energy sources increase, this question will become even more relevant. The results identified some factors that can increase the levels of SLOs obtained, but also showed some factors that can cause a decrease the levels of SLOs. The SLO proved to be a practical and thorough concept to consider renewable energy projects. However, as the case of Zonnepark Ameland demonstrated, obtaining social licences is not a simple and straightforward task.

First, the case made clear that there is not one SLO or one level of SLO given by all stakeholders in one community. Rather, it confirms the notion of Dare et al. (2014) that multiple SLOs must be obtained from different stakeholders and communities, because of their different needs, aspirations and interests. Zonnepark Ameland also showed that the relevant communities consist of local stakeholders that are relevant because of their interest and/or proximity. That local context is an important factor in obtaining SLOs was also evident within this case. For instance, when space is limited and highly contested, the rate of SLOs might decrease, because projects like solar farms take up a relative large amount of space. However, when these project adhere to local principles, like self-sustainability, SLOs might increase. Both theory and Zonnepark Ameland showed that there are strategies that can increase the likelihood of SLOs given by local communities, even when space is highly contested. The case for instance highlighted that the financial involvement of governments as proponents can hamper the perception of procedural fairness and the acceptance level of SLOs. Therefore, this should be avoided to increase the possibility of acceptance. However, a dichotomy emerges on this point because the case also raised that involvement of the Municipality can enhance the trustworthiness and reputation of projects. A more active role of local energy communities, like the AEC on Ameland, could replace governments and ensure these factors. A more facilitating role of governments could improve the perceptions of impartially and procedural fairness and therefore contribute to good governance of projects. This facilitative role could consist of ensuring that proper public participation and community engagement processes are conducted by the proponents. Furthermore, the case shows that likely social impacts of renewable projects, foremost of solar farms, are impacts on nature, landscape and current use(s) of the locations of these projects. Both an inadequate assessment of these impacts and inadequate consideration of issues along with deficient compensation or mitigation efforts can result in lower levels of SLOs and even in withdrawal of SLOs. Therefore, to increase levels of SLOs, strategies should be taken to mitigate or compensate for these impacts caused by the projects and to consider the issues presented by the impacted communities.

Furthermore, Zonnepark Ameland shows that renewable energy projects can obtain higher levels of SLOs by ensuring local embeddedness of these projects that can be achieved through local ownership and local representation in these projects outside of local governments. For instance, like in Zonnepark Ameland, with local energy communities initiated by local inhabitants. That public participation is a factor that is important throughout all levels of SLOs is also confirmed by this case. The results stress that in order to reach SLOs, participation should be provided even at early stages of projects, including the decision-making regarding the choice of location. In regard of another important factor of SLOs, community engagement, the case of Zonnepark Ameland shows that higher levels of SLOs potentially can be obtained with a broader engagement of relevant communities through a distribution of benefits that also encompasses marginalized groups.

#### References

AD, 2019. Ameland: Illegale chalets Boomhiemke mogelijk toch vergund. Algemeen Dagblad, 02 07.

AEC, 2016. Successolle obligatielening AEC voor Zonnepark Ameland. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.persbureau-ameland.nl/successolle-obligatielening-aec-voor-zonnepark-ameland</u> <u>ameland</u>

[Accessed 21 11 2019].

AEC, 2018. Actuele productie zonnepark op AEC website. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.ameland-actueel.nl/actuele-productie-zonnepark-op-aec-website</u> [Accessed 29 10 2019].

AEC, 2019a. *Niews*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.amelandenergie.nl/files/nieuws.html</u> [Accessed 17 10 2019].

AEC, 2019. EERSTE POSTCODEROOS AMELAND, Ameland: Amelander Energie Cooperatie.

AEC, n.d. Informatiememorandum, Ballum: Amelandse Energie Coöperatie.

Airport Ameland, 2019. Interview Zonnepark Ameland (phone conversation) [Interview] (09 10 2019).

AIS, 2019. *Aeronautical Information Publication EHAL — AMELAND/AMELAND,* Schiphol, the Netherlands : AIS the Netherlands.

Allmendinger, P., 2017. Planning Theory. 3e ed. Houndsmill (UK): Palgrave .

Alterra, 2018. *Natura 2000 gebieden, Wetlands en Nationale parken*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.synbiosys.alterra.nl/natura2000/googlemapszoek.aspx</u>

Arnstein, S., 1969. A Ladder of Citizens Participation. In: *The City Reader*. Oxon: Routledge , pp. 279-292.

Atkinson, S., 2018. Farmers protest solar project; The statement they're making is that the project will be located on Class 2 farmland. *Ontario Farmer*, 20 03, p. 35.

Atsma, P., 2019. Massaal protest tegen zonneplan in Drachten. *Friesch Dagblad*, 12 06, pp. https://frieschdagblad.nl/2019/6/12/massaal-protest-tegen-zonneplan-in-drachten.

Bason, N., 2013. Support for protest against solar farm. Cornish Guardian, 1007, p. 3.

Baxter, J. & Eyles, J., 2004. Evaluating qualitative research in social geography: establishing 'rigour' in interview analysis. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 22(4), pp. 505-525.

Bazelmans, J., Meier, D., Spek, T. & Vos, P., 2012. Understanding the cultural historical value of the Wadden Sea region. The co-evolution of environment and society in the Wadden Sea area in the Holocene up until early modern times (11,700 BCe1800 AD): An outline. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, Issue 68, pp. 114-126.

Bell, D., Gray, T. & Hagget, C., 2005. The 'Social Gap' in Wind Farm Siting Decisions: Explanations and Policy Responses. *Environmental Politics*, 14(4), pp. 460-477.

Berendsen, H. J. A., 2005. *Landschap in delen. Overzicht van de geofactoren.* Assen: Van Gorcum & Comp..

Bice, S., 2014. What Gives You a Social Licence? An Exploration of the Social Licence to Operate in the Australian Mining Industry. *Resources,* Issue 3, pp. 62-80.

Bice, S. & Moffat, K., 2014. Social licence to operate and impact assessment. *Impact assessment and project appraisal*, 32(4), pp. 257-262.

Blomberg Bingham, L., Nabatchi, T. & O'Leary, R., 2005. The New Governance: Practices and Processes for Stakeholder and Citizen Participation in the Work of Governmen. *Public Administration Review*, 65(5), pp. 547-558.

Boeringa, R., 2019. *Op Ameland is de wereld nog verdeeld tussen oost & west*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.vi.nl/pro/cult/op-ameland-is-de-wereld-nog-verdeeld-tussen-oost--</u> <u>west/share/b6071d0b40?utm\_source=vi\_social&utm\_medium=social&campaign=share\_artikel</u> [Accessed 1 10 2019].

Bolinger, M. & Steel, J., 2015. *Utility-Scale Solar 2014: An Empirical Analysis of Project Costs, Performance and Pricing Trends in the United States*, Berkeley: Lawrence Berekely National Laboratory. U.S. Department of Energy.

Bosman, J., 2011. De Waddenzee, een gigantisch wereldnatuurerfgoed-park. *Bulletin KNOB* (Koninklijke Nederlandse Oudheidkundige Bond), Issue 6, pp. 232-240.

Bosma, W., 2017. Plannen voor zonnepark van 41 hectare bij Wirdum. *Leeuwarder Courant*, 10 03. Available at: <u>https://www.lc.nl/friesland/Plannen-voor-zonnepark-van-41-hectare-bij-Wirdum-22055520.html.</u>

Boutilier, R., 2017. A Measure Of The Social License To Operate For Infrastructure And Extractive *Projects,* Vancouver, Canada: Shinglespilt consultans.

Boutilier, R., 2019. A MEASURE OF THE SOCIAL LICENSE TO OPERATE FOR INFRASTRUCTURE AND EXTRACTIVE PROJECTS, Vancouver, Canada: Shinglespit consultants inc..

Boutilier, R. G., 2014. Concepts and Emerging Ideas: Frequently asked questions about the social license to operate. *Impact assessment and project appraisal*, 32(4), pp. 263-272.

Boutilier, R. G., Black, L. D. & Thomson, I., 2012. *From Metaphor to Management Tool – How the Social License to Operate can Stabilise the Socio-Political Environment for Business,* Melbournce, Australia: International Mine Management 2012 Proceedings: Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.

Bowen, G., 2009. Document Analysis as a Qualitative Research Method. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 9(2), pp. 27-40.

Buiting Advies, 2019. NNN-gebieden Nederland. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.arcgis.com/home/item.html?id=cdf6dd2775b34ce7a5c485244b6a14a6</u> [Accessed 01 10 2019].

Buntjer, J., 2018. *Minnesota's largest solar farm project moving ahead in far southwestern corner*. [Online]

Available at: <u>https://www.duluthnewstribune.com/business/energy-and-mining/4530549-minnesotas-largest-solar-farm-project-moving-ahead-far</u>

Camping Roosdunen, 2019. Interview Zonnepark Ameland [Interview] (15 10 2019).

Carrol and Buchholtz (2006) cited in Parsons et al (2014), 2014. Carrol, A,B. Buchhotlz, A,K. Business & Society: Ethics and Stakeholder Management. Thomson/South-Western, Mason, Ohio in Parsons et al (2014).. *Resources policy*, pp. 83-90.

CBS, 2018. *Bodemgebruik; uitgebreide gebruiksvorm, per gemeente; Ameland*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/#/CBS/nl/dataset/70262ned/table?dl=27AB0</u> [Accessed 30 09 2019].

CBS, 2019a. *Vermogen zonnepanelen meer dan de helft toegenomen,* Den Haag/Heerlen: Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek.

CBS, 2019b. *Bevolkingsontwikkeling; regio per maand; Augustus; Gemeente Ameland*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/#/CBS/nl/dataset/37230ned/table?dl=27AAC</u> [Accessed 30 09 2019].

CBS, 2019c. *Banen van werknemers in december; economische activiteit (SBI2008), regio.* [Online] Available at: <u>https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/#/CBS/nl/dataset/83582NED/table?dl=27AC7</u> [Accessed 30 09 2019].

CBS, 2019d. Vestigingen van bedrijven; bedrijfstak, gemeente. [Online] Available at: <u>https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/#/CBS/nl/dataset/81575NED/table?dl=27ACB</u> [Accessed 30 09 2019].

CBS, 2019e. *Nabijheid voorzieningen; afstand locatie, wijk- en buurtcijfers 2018; Gemeente Ameland.* [Online]

Available at: <u>https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/#/CBS/nl/dataset/84463NED/table?dl=27CA6</u> [Accessed 1 10 2019].

CBS, 2019. *Hernieuwbare energie; verbruik naar energiebron, techniek en toepassing*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/#/CBS/nl/dataset/83109NED/table?dl=C8A6</u>

Clark, T., 2008. 'We're Over-Researched Here!': Exploring Accounts of Research Fatigue within Qualitative Research Engagements. *Sociology*, pp. 953-970.

Colton, J. et al., 2016. ENERGY PROJECTS, SOCIAL LICENCE, PUBLIC ACCEPTANCE AND REGULATORY SYSTEMS IN CANADA: A WHITE PAPER. *The School of Public Policy*, 20(9).

Common Wadden Sea Secretariat, 2016. *Report on the State of Conservation of the World Heritage property "The Wadden Sea (N1314)"*, Wilhelmshaven, Germany: Common Wadden Sea Secretariat (CWSS),.

Conkling, P., 2007. ON ISLANDERS AND ISLANDNESS. *The Geographical Review*, 97(2), pp. 191-201.

Cooney, J., 2017. Reflections on the 20th anniversary of the term 'social licence'. *Journal of Energy & Natural Resources Law*, 35(2), pp. 197-200.

Cope, M., 2010a. Coding Transcripts and Diaries. In: N. Clifford, S. French & G. Valentine, eds. *Key Methods in Geography*. London: Sage publications Ltd, pp. 440-452.

Cope, M., 2010. Organizing and Analyzing Qualitative data. In: I. Hay, ed. *Qualitative research methods in Human Geography*. Don Mills, Ontario: Oxford University Press, pp. 373-393.

Corscadden, K., Wile, A. & Yiridoe, E., 2012. Social license and consultation criteria for community wind projects. *Renewable Energy*, 2012(44), pp. 392-397.

Corvellec, H., 2007. Arguing for a license to operate: The case of the Swedish wind power industry. *Corporate Communications An International Journal*, 12(2), pp. 129-144.

Daily Independent, 2017. Youths Protest Against Establishment of Solar Plant in Kaduna. *Daily Independent (Nigeria)*, 13 12.

Dare, L. D., Schirmer, J. & Vanclay, F., 2014. Community engagement and social licence to operate. *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 32(3), pp. 188-197.

Davis, R. & Franks, D., 2011. *The costs of conflict with local communities in the extractives industry. In: Robert G. Boutilier (2014) Frequently asked questions about the.* Santiago, Chile, First International Conference on Social Responsibility in Mining.

*De Hokjesman: Aflevering 1: De Amelanders.* 2014. [Film] Directed by Jurjen Blick & Michael Schaap. Nederland: VPRO.

de Jong, A., 2013. Facebook post. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.facebook.com/annedejongopameland</u> [Accessed 14 11 2019].

de Jong, A., 2014. *Facebook*. [Online] Available at: https://www.facebook.com/annedejongopameland [Accessed 09 11 2019].

de Jong, A., 2019a. Interview by mail [Interview] (10 10 2019a).

de Jong, B., 2019. Spiegelende akkers, een zonnig scenario?. Trouw, 7 02.

de Mik, K., 2017. Groene energie? Burgum vreest voor stinkende kadavers. *NRC Handelsblad*, 14 06 Available at: https://www.nrc.nl/nieuws/2017/06/14/groene-energie-burgum-vreest-voor-stinkende-kadavers-11073509-a1562877.

de Roo, G. & Silva, E. A., 2010. Chapter 2 Being or Becoming? That is the question! Confronting Complexity with Contemporary Planning Theory. In: *A Planner's Ecnouter with Compexity*. Farnham UK: Ashgate, pp. 19-40.

de Vries, A. J., 2017. Protest windpark Nij Hiddum-Houw groeit. Leeuwarder Courant, 6 11, p. 2.

de Vries, G., 2019. *Deelgebied Waddeneilanden; Landschapsgeschiedenis*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://landschapsgeschiedenis.nl/deelgebieden/1-Waddeneilanden.html</u> [Accessed 30 09 2019].

Dekker, M., 2005. *Voortgangsrapportage Waddendossier*, Den Haag: Minister van Volkshuisvesting, Ruimtelijke Ordening en Milieubeheer Directoraat-Generaal Ruimte, Directoraat-Generaal Ruimte.

Deltares, 2016. Analyse Vaargeul Holwerd-Ameland, Delft: Deltares .

Demuijnck, G. & Fasterling, B., 2016. The Social License to Operate. *Journal of Business Ethics*, Issue 136, pp. 675-685.

Dijkema, K. S., van Duin, W. E. & van Dobben, H. F., 2005. *Kweldervegetatie op Ameland: effecten van veranderingen in de maaiveldhoogte van Nieuwlandsrijd en De Hon,* Wageningen: Alterra Wageningen UR.

Dunn, K., 2010. Interviewing . In: I. Hay, ed. *Qualitative Research Methods in Human Geography.* Don Mills, Ontario: Oxford university press, pp. 149-202.

Duurzaam Ameland(a), 2019. *Projecten*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.duurzaamameland.nl/projecten/</u> [Accessed 17 10 2019].

Duurzaam Ameland, 2017. *Schaf nu een hybride warmtepomp aan voor uw woning,* Ameland: Duurzaam Ameland.

Duurzaam Ameland, 2019. *Meteocontrol dashboard Zonnepark Ameland*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://public.meteocontrol.de/dashboard/system/41HGF/duRea04iV7</u> [Accessed 17 10 2019].

DVHN, 2015. Colleges van B en W partijen geven tegenwind. Dagblad van het Noorden, 12 02, p. 24.

DvhN, 2019a. Verzet lijkt tweede zonnepark bij Steenwijksmoer niet tegen te houden. Dagblad van het Noorden: AD regio, 12 06,

Available at: https://www.ad.nl/drenthe/verzet-lijkt-tweede-zonnepark-bij-steenwijksmoer-niet-tegen-te-houden~a4edbdba/.

DvhN, 2019. Rechter verwerpt bezwaren omwonenden: Weg vrij voor komst van zonnepark in Smilde. *Dagblad van het Noorden; AD Regio*, 09 09, pp. https://www.ad.nl/drenthe/rechter-verwerpt-bezwaren-omwonenden-weg-vrij-voor-komst-van-zonnepark-in-smilde~ac439927/.

EEA, 2016. *Protected sites in Europe (Natura 2000).* [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.arcgis.com/home/item.html?id=fa8b41fdc9e74841a054a4946e944717</u> [Accessed 07 10 2019].

Elting, W., 2019. Onderwatervliegers moeten helft energie eilanden leveren. *Leeuwarder Courant*, 09 11, p. 2.

ENECO, 2019. Interview Zonnepark Ameland [Interview] (19 11 2019).

Esri Nederland(a), 2019. *Topo RD*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.arcgis.com/home/item.html?id=1d1d425122e74d4d87695e163f3f10ce</u> [Accessed 08 10 2019].

Esri Nederland, 2019. *Light Grey Canvas.* [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.arcgis.com/home/item.html?id=338eba51592f4a76ba196b362fb5e95b</u> [Accessed 07 10 2019].

Farmer near the project, 2014. Zonnepark vliegveld Ballum , Ballum: Gemeente Ameland .

Fierant, T., 2017. Ameland gaf De Hoop al eerder op. Leeuwarder Courant, 25 10.

Fierant, T., 2019. Eindstand: 1025 handtekeningen voor Stelp. Leeuwarder Courant, 17 09.

Fierant, T. & de Jong, J., 2019. Wellnessplan Ameland van agenda na brief advocaten. *Leeuwarder Courant*, 29 10, p. 21.

Folmer, A., Haartsen, T. & Huigen, P. P., 2013. Explaining Emotional Attachment to a Protected Area by Visitors' Perceived Importance of Seeing Wildlife, Behavioral Connections with Nature, and Sociodemographics. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, Issue 18, pp. 435-449.

Franks, D. et al., 2014. *Conflict translates environmental and social risk into business costs. In: Proceedings of the National Academy.* Washington DC, National Academy of Sciences.

Franks, D. M., Brereton, D. & Moran, C. J., 2012. Managing the cumulative impacts of coal mining on regional communities and environments in Australia. *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 28(4), pp. 299-312.

Franks, D. M. & Cohen, T., 2012. Social Licence in Design: Constructive technology assessment within a mineral research and development institution. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, Issue 79, pp. 1229-1240.

Franks, D. & Vanclay, F., 2013. Social impact management plans: innovation in corporate and public policy. *Impact Assesment Review*, Issue 43, pp. 40-48.

Freeman, R., 2010. Ch 3: Stakeholder management: Framework and Philosophy . In: *Strategic Management: A Stakeholder Approach*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 52-53.

Freeman, R. E., 2007. Managing for Stakeholders. *Darden Bussiness publishing; University of Virginia,* pp. 1-22.

Gemeente Ameland, 2011. Structuurvisie Ameland, Ballum: Gemeente Ameland.

Gemeente Ameland, 2012. *Gebieds- en ontwikkelingsvisie Vliegveld Ameland*, Ballum: Gemeente Ameland.

Gemeente Ameland, 2014a. *Vergadering gemeenteraad 28-04-2014.* [Online] Available at: <u>https://ameland.raadsinformatie.nl/vergadering/100742#ai\_2695007</u> [Accessed 05 11 2019].

Gemeente Ameland, 2014b. *Vergadering raadscommissie 18-08-2014*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://ameland.raadsinformatie.nl/vergadering/102509#ai\_1429374</u> [Accessed 06 11 2019].

Gemeente Ameland, 2014c. *Vergadering gemeenteraad 26-05-2014*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://ameland.raadsinformatie.nl/vergadering/100743#ai\_1114649</u> [Accessed 25 11 2019].

Gemeente Ameland, 2014d. Omgevingsvergunning nr. 14080, Ballum: Gemeente Ameland.

Gemeente Ameland, 2014. Vergadering raadscommisiie 07-04-2014, Ballum: Gemeente Ameland.

Gemeente Ameland, 2015a. *Vergadering gemeenteraad 18-05-2015.* [Online] Available at: <u>https://ameland.raadsinformatie.nl/vergadering/148080#ai\_1871035</u> [Accessed 02 11 2019].

Gemeente Ameland, 2015. *Vergadering raadscommissie 11-05-2015*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://ameland.raadsinformatie.nl/vergadering/148065#ai\_1839019</u> [Accessed 08 11 2019]. Gemeente Ameland, 2018. *De zes politieke partijen van Ameland*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.ameland.nl/verkiezing2018/de-zes-politieke-partijen-van-ameland\_44795/</u> [Accessed 30 10 2019].

Gemeente Ameland, 2019a. *Raad*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://ris2.ibabs.eu/People/Profiles/Ameland/e1726d5b-d1ba-484e-a358e5b4ff4c8f37</u> [Accessed 30 10 2019].

Gemeente Ameland, 2019b. *Vliegveld Ameland*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.ehal.nl/</u> [Accessed 1 10 2019].

Gemeente Ameland, 2019c. *ameland raadsinformatie; database*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://ameland.raadsinformatie.nl/</u> [Accessed 10 10 2019].

Gemeente Ameland, 2019. Economische visie 2030, Ballum: Gemeente Ameland.

Google, 2019. Google Earth. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.google.nl/maps/place/Ballum/@53.4501382,5.6923826,4678m/data=!3m1!1e3!4m5!3</u> <u>m4!1s0x47c91016e52f469b:0xec91196faf109983!8m2!3d53.4440723!4d5.6860721</u> [Accessed 08 10 2019].

Gunnigham, N., Kagan, R. A. & Thornton, D., 2006. Social License and Environmental Protection: Why Businesses Go beyond Compliance. *Law and Society Inquiry*, 307(29).

Halbertsma, 1856 in Jansen, 2002 De friesche eilanden Schiermonnikoog, Ameland en Terschelling. *Nieuwe Friesche Volksalmanak*, pp. 76-79.

Hall, N., Ashworth, P. & Shaw, H., 2012. *Exploring community acceptance of rural wind farms in Australia: a snapshot,* Canberra, Australia: CSIRO Science into Society Group.

Hall, N., Lacey, J., Carr-Cornish & Dowd, A., 2015. Social licence to operate: understanding how a concept has been translated into practice in energy industries. *Journal of Cleaner Production,* Issue 86, pp. 301-310.

Hanna, P., Vanclay, F., Langdon, E. J. & Arts, J., 2015. Conceptualizing social protest and the significance of protest actions to large projects. *The Extractive Industries and Society*, Issue 3, pp. 217-239.

Hay, I., 2010. Ethical Practice in Geographical Research. In N. Clifford., S. French. & G. Valentine (Red.). Key Methods in Geography.. London: Sage .

Hay, I., 2016. *Qualitative Research Methods in Human Geography*. Don Mills : Oxford University Press Canada.

Hay, P., 2006. A Phenomenology of Islands. Island Studies Journal, 1(1), pp. 19-42.

Henisz, W. J., Dorobantu, S. & Nartey, L. J., 2014. Spinning Gold: The Financial Returns to Stakeholder Engagement. *Strategic Management Journal*, 35(12), pp. 1727-1748.

Hesmondhalgh, 2006. Discourse analysis and content analysis . In: M. Gillespie & J. Toynbee, eds. *Analysing Media Texts* . Berkshire, England: Open University Press, pp. 119-158.

Holland Solar, 2019. GEDRAGSCODE ZON OP LAND, Utrecht: Holland Solar.

IEA, 2018. World Energy Outlook, Paris, France: International Energy Agency (IEA).

IJnsen, P., 2012. Zonnepark Ameland nog geen gelopen race. Persbureau Ameland, 06 11.

Informatiepunt Omgevingswet, 2019. *Participatie in de Omgevingswet*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://aandeslagmetdeomgevingswet.nl/thema/inspiratiegids/participatie-wet/</u> [Accessed 26 09 2019].

Jami, A. A. N. & Walsh, P. R., 2014. The role of public participation in identifying stakeholder synergies in wind power project development: The case study of Ontario, Canada. *Renewable Energy,* Issue 68, pp. 194-202.

Jansen, M., 2002. DE DIALECTEN VAN AMELAND EN MIDSLAND IN VERGELIJKING MET HET STADSFRIES. *US WURK LI*, 51(3), pp. 128-152.

Jansen, M. M., 2010. *Language Change on the Dutch Frisian Island of Ameland: Linguistic and sociolinguistic findings,* Amsterdam : Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam .

Jijelava, D., 2019. *Application of the concept of 'Social Licence to Operate' beyond infrastructure projects.*, Groningen: University of Groningen.

Jijelava, D. & Vanclay, F., 2017. Legitimacy, credibility and trust as the key components of a social licence to operate: An analysis of BP's projects in Georgia. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 2017(140), pp. 1077-1086.

Jijelava, D. & Vanclay, F., 2018. How a large project was halted by the lack of a Social Licence to Operate: testing the applicability of the Thomson and Boutilier Model. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, Issue 73, pp. 31-40.

Joyce, S. & Thomson, I., 2000. Earning a social licence to operate: Social acceptability and resource development in Latin America. *CIM Bullentin*, 93(1037), pp. 49-53.

Kadaster, 2019. *Dataset: Basisregistratie Topografie (BRT) TOP10 NL*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.pdok.nl/downloads/-/article/basisregistratie-topografie-brt-topnl</u> [Accessed 01 10 2019].

Kamp, H., 2016. *Samen energieprojecten realiseren: visie op omgevingsmanagement,* Den Haag: (Minister of economic affaris) Ministerie van Economische Zaken.

Kelly, L., 2018. Virginia residents protest proposed solar farm in Spotsylvania. *The Washington Times*, 10 12, pp. https://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2018/dec/10/virginia-residents-protest-proposed-solar-farm-spo/.

Kemp, D., Owen, J. R., Gotzmann, N. & Bond, C. J., 2011. Just Relations and Company–Community Conflict in Mining. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 101(93), pp. 93-109.

Kenniscentrum Europa decentraal, 2015. COMMISSIE KEURT NEDERLANDSE ENERGIESUBSIDIES GOED. [Online]

Available at: <u>https://europadecentraal.nl/commissie-keurt-nederlandse-energiesubsidies-goed/</u> [Accessed 15 11 2019].

Kiewiet, J., 2019. Interview Zonnepark Ameland [Interview] (06 11 2019).

Kiewiet, R., 2015. *Facebookpage A de Jong.* [Online] [Accessed 06 11 2019].

KNVvL, 2016. *Operationele procedures*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://zweefvliegopleiding.nl/index.php/6-2-1-de-lierstart</u> [Accessed 19 11 2019].

KNVvL, 2019. *Zweefvliegtuigclub teleurgesteld over uitspraak vliegbasis*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.knvvl.nl/zweefvliegclub-ameland-teleurgesteld-over-uitspraak-rechtbank</u> [Accessed 29 09 2017].

Krebs, C. F. et al., 2013. 25th Anniversary Article: Rise to Power – OPV-Based Solar Parks. *Advanced Materials*, Issue 26, pp. 29-39.

Kwast, O. & Wesselink, M., 2016. *VOOR ENERGIE & OMGEVING; Strategisch management van energieprojecten onder de Omgevingswet,* Den Haag: Ministerie van Infrastructuur en Milieu en het Ministerie van Economische Zaken.

Lacey, J. et al., 2017. The art and science of community relations: Procedural fairness at Newmont's Waihi Gold operations, New Zealand. *Resources policy*, Issue 52, pp. 245-254.

Lammers, I. & Arentsen, M. J., 2017. Rethinking Participation in Smart Energy System Planning. *Energies*, 10(1711).

Lane, M. B., 2005. Public Participation in Planning: an intellectual history. *Australian Geographer*, 36(3), pp. 283-299.

Langbroek, M. & Vanclay, F., 2012. Learning from the social impacts associated with initiating a windfarm near the former island of Urk, The Netherlands. *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 30(3), pp. 167-178.

Lansbury Hall, L. & Jeanneret, T., 2015. Social licence to operate: An opportunity to enhance CSR for deeper communication and engagement. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, 20(2), pp. 213-227.

Leeuwarder Courant, 2014a. Raad Ameland akkoord met krediet zonnepark. *Leeuwarder Courant - Editie Zuid*, 30 04, p. 24.

Leeuwarder Courant, 2014b. Start van zonnepark op Ameland is nabij. *Leeuwarder Courant - Editie Zuid*, 20 11, p. 24.

Leeuwarder Courant, 2014c. Zonnepark blijft op vliegveld. *Leeuwarder Courant - editie Zuid*, 08 04, p. 26.

Leeuwarder Courant, 2014. Eilander Zonnepark moet elders. Leeuwarder Courant, 08 02, p. 34.

Leeuwarder Courant, 2015. Zonnepanelen op monument gevoelig. Leeuwarder Courant, 06 02, p. 24.

Leeuwarder Courant, 2016a. Zonnepark nekt zweefvliegclub Ameland: te gevaarlijk. *Leeuwarder Courant*, 06 06. Available at: https://www.lc.nl/friesland/Zonnepark-nekt-zweefvliegclub-Ameland-te-gevaarlijk-21479941.html.

Leeuwarder Courant, 2016. Zweefvliegclub sleept Ameland voor rechter. *Leeuwarder Courant, Editie Zuid*, 11 10, p. 26.

Leeuwarder Courant, 2017. Derde kans NAM wekt wantrouwen. Leeuwarder Courant, 27 05, p. 10.

Leeuwarder Courant, 2018. Verzet tegen zonnepark. Leeuwarder Courant, 10 04, p. 2.

Liroff, R., Fugere, D., Von Reusner, L. & Hein, S., 2014. *DISCLOSING THE FACTS: TRANSPARENCY AND RISK IN HYDRAULIC FRACTURING*, s.l.: As You Sow, Boston Common Asset Management, LLC, Green Century Capital Management, Inc. and Investor Environmental Health Network.

LTO, 2019. *Partners*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.lto.nl/over-lto/partners/</u> [Accessed 12 05 2019].

LTO-Noord, 2014. *zienswijze op de voorlopige verklaring van geen bedenkingen en het ontwerp,* Hollum: Gemeente Ameland.

Lynch-Wood, G. & Williamson, D., 2007. The Social Licence as a form of Regulation for Small and Medium Enterprises. *Jouran of law and society*, 34(3), pp. 321-341.

Meesters, F. E. & Behagel, J. H., 2017. The Social Licence to Operate: Ambiguities and the neutralization of harm in Mongolia. *Resources Policy*, Issue 53, pp. 274-282.

Meijer, H., 2018. *Stil protest tegen zonnepark Alteveer: RTV Drenthe*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.rtvdrenthe.nl/nieuws/133771/Stil-protest-tegen-zonnepark-Alteveer</u> [Accessed 10 10 2019].

Ministerie van Binnenlandse Zaken en Koninkrijkrelaties, 2019. *Informatieblad participatie in de omgevingswet; wat regelt de wet,* Den Haag: Ministerie van Binnenlandse Zaken en Koninkrijkrelaties.

Mitchell, R. K., Agle, B. R. & Wood, D. J., 1997. Toward a Theory of Stakeholder Identification and Salience: Defining the Principle of Who and What Really Counts. *The Academy of Management Review*, 22(4), pp. 853-886.

Moffat, K., Lacey, J., Zhang, A. & Leipold, S., 2015. The social licence to operate: a critical review. *Forestry*, pp. 1-12.

Moffat, K. & Zhang, A., 2014. The paths to social licence to operate: An integrative model explaining community acceptance of mining. *Resources Policy*, Issue 39, pp. 61-70.

Mulder, K., 2019. Protest tegen zonnepark bij Babberich.. De Gelderlander.nl., 84.

Multiple inhabitans of Ameland, 2015. *Facebookpage A de Jong*. [Online] [Accessed 01 11 2019].

Natuurwerkgroep Ameland, 2019. Interview Zonnepark Ameland [Interview] (29 11 2019).

Nederlandse gedragscode wetenschappelijke integriteit, 2018. s.l.: s.n.

Nelsen, J. & Scoble, M., 2006. *Social License to Operate Mines: Issues of Situational Analysis and Process,* Vancouver, Canada: University of British Columbia.

NOS, 2018. Lokale partijen winnen in versplinterd politiek landschap. [Online] Available at: <u>https://nos.nl/artikel/2223771-lokale-partijen-winnen-in-versplinterd-politiek-landschap.html</u> [Accessed 10 30 2019].

Omroep Zeeland, 2018. *Opnieuw protest tegen biovergister in Rilland*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.omroepzeeland.nl/nieuws/108602/Opnieuw-protest-tegen-biovergister-in-Rilland</u> [Accessed 10 10 2019].

Omrop Fryslân , 2018. *REPO: Sunneklaas zit in het DNA van de Amelanders*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=W74jqLU6e7U</u> [Accessed 01 10 2019].

Omrop Fryslân, 2017. "Geen draagvlak, dan geen zonnepark". [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.omropfryslan.nl/nieuws/711821-geen-draagvlak-dan-geen-zonnepark</u> [Accessed 01 15 2020].

Oud, N., 2015. Vergadering raadscommissie 11-05-2015 Gemeente Ameland. [Online] Available at: <u>https://ameland.raadsinformatie.nl/vergadering/148065#ai\_1839019</u> [Accessed 06 11 2019].

Owen, J. R. & Kemp, D., 2013. Social licence and mining: A critical perspective. *Resources Policy,* Issue 38, pp. 29-35.

Parc Koudenbrug, 2014. *zienswijze tegen het voornemen een omgevingsvergunning te verlenen door de Gemeente Ameland, tot oprichting van een zonnepark op het vliegveld Ballum ,* Ballum: Gemeente Ameland .

Parsons, R., Lacey, J. & Moffat, K., 2014. Maintaining legitimacy of a contested practice: how the minerals industry understands its 'social licence to operate'. *Resource Policy*, Issue 41, pp. 83-90.

Parsons, R. & Moffat, K., 2014. Constructing the meaning of 'social licence'. *Social Epistemology*, 28(3-4), pp. 340-363.

Persbureau Ameland, 2012. Zonnepark Ameland nog geen gelopen race. *Persbureau Ameland*, 06 11, pp. https://www.persbureau-ameland.nl/zonnepark-ameland-nog-geen-gelopen-race.

Persburo Ameland, 2014a. Zonnepark Ameland stapje dichterbij. *Persburo Ameland*, 26 08, pp. https://www.persbureau-ameland.nl/zonnepark-ameland-stapje-dichterbij.

Persburo Ameland, 2014. Leden AEC akkoord met zonnepark. Persbureau Ameland, 24 04.

Peters, A. H. P. J., 2014. *zienswijze onwerp-omgevingsvergunning 'zonnepark Ameland',* Drunen: Gemeente Ameland .

Prno, J., 2013. An analysis of factors leading to the establishment of a social licence to operate in the mining industry. *Resources Policy*, Issue 38, pp. 577-590.

Prno, J. & Slocombe, D. S., 2012. Exploring the origins of 'social license to operate' in the mining sector: Perspectives from governance and sustainability theories. *Resources Policy*, Issue 37, pp. 346-357.

Prno, J. & Slocombe, D. S., 2014. A Systems-Based Conceptual Framework for Assessing the Determinants of a Social License to Operate in the Mining Industry. *Environmental Management,* Issue 53, pp. 672-689.

Pronvincie Fryslân, 2019. *Natuur overzichtskaart (webmap).* [Online] Available at: <u>https://arcg.is/1HbD5z</u> [Accessed 1 10 2019].

Provincie Fryslân, 2014. Reactie Zonnepark Ameland, Leeuwarden: Provincie Fryslân.

Provincie Fryslân, 2018. Verordening Romte Fryslân 2014, Leeuwarden: Provincie Fryslân.

Provincie Fryslân, 2019. *Planologische Ecologische Hoofdstructuur kaart (Planologische EHS).* [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.arcgis.com/home/item.html?id=eb4e12aa6eea4591af7c0f48ef6def54</u> [Accessed 08 10 2019].

Provincie Fryslân, 2019. Zonne-energie. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.fryslan.frl/beleidsthemas/zonne-energie\_41915/</u> [Accessed 04 11 2019].

Provincie Fryslân, 2015. Romte foar Sinne, Leeuwarden: Provincie Fryslân.

Putz, G., 1984 in Conkling, 2007. On Islanders. Island Journal, Volume 1, pp. 26-29.

Quinlan, A., 2017. West Cork villagers urged to protest solar farm. *Irish Examiner*, 04 10. Available at: pp. https://www.irishexaminer.com/ireland/west-cork-villagers-urged-to-protest-solar-farm-460215.html.

Ramaker, R., 2019. Zonnepanelen op het Friese land. Elsevier Weekblad, 16 02, p. 24.

Rebel Energie, 2014. Vergadering raadscommissie 07-04-2014 Gemeente Ameland. [Online] Available at: <u>https://ameland.raadsinformatie.nl/vergadering/100796#ai\_1114828</u> [Accessed 30 10 2019].

Rehman, S. & Bader, M. A. A.-M. S. A., 2007. Cost of solar energy generated using PV panels. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 11(8), pp. 1843-1857.

Residents near the project, 2014a. *zienswijze ontwerp omgevingsvergunning Strandweg 19* (*vliegveld*), Hollum: Gemeente Ameland.

Residents near the project, 2014. *zienswijze ontwerpomgevingsvergunning Strandweg 19* (*vliegveld*), Ballum: Gemeente Ameland.

Residents near Zonnepark Ameland, 2019. Interview Zonnepark Ameland [Interview] (01 11 2019).

Rho Adviseurs, 2014. *Ruimtelijke onderbouwing Zonnepark Ameland*, Leeuwarden: Rho Adviseurs voor de Leefruimte b.v.

Richert, C., Rogers, A. & Burten, M., 2015. Measuring the extent of a Social License to Operate: The influence of marine biodiversity offsets in the oil and gas sector in Western Australia. *Resources Policy,* Issue 43, pp. 121-129.

Rijksoverheid, 2018. *Wet algemene bepelingen omgevingsrecht (WRO); Artikel 2.12, lid a, onder 3,* Den Haag : Rijksoverheid .

Rijksoverheid, 2019a. Natuurnetwerk Nederland. [Online]

Available at: <u>https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/onderwerpen/natuur-en-biodiversiteit/natuurnetwerk-nederland</u> [Accessed 1 10 2019].

Rijksoverheid, 2019. Burgerlijk Wetboek Boek 7; Titel 5, Den Haag: Rijksoverheid.

Rijksoverheid, 2019. *Natura 2000*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.government.nl/topics/nature-and-biodiversity/natura-2000</u> [Accessed 1 10 2019].

Rijksoverheid, 2019. *Provincie voert landelijk en eigen beleid uit*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/onderwerpen/provincies/taken-provincie</u> [Accessed 20 11 2019].

Rijkswaterstaat, 2019. *Kenniscentrum InfoMil; Buitenplans afwijken*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.infomil.nl/onderwerpen/ruimte/ruimtelijke/wet-algemene/buitenplans-afwijken/</u>

[Accessed 18 10 2019].

Rodhouse, T. & Vanclay, F., 2016. Is free, prior and informed consent a form of corporate social responsibility? *Journal of Cleaner Production,* Issue 131, pp. 785-794.

Roniger, L., 2004. Political clientelism, democracy and market economy. *Comparative Politics*, 36(3), pp. 353-375.

RVO, 2017. Pacht; Regels en prijzen, Zwolle: Rijksdienst voor Ondernemend Nederland.

RVO, 2019. *Feiten en cijfers SDE(+) Algemeen*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.rvo.nl/subsidies-regelingen/stimulering-duurzame-energieproductie/feiten-en-cijfers/feiten-en-cijfers-sde-algemeen</u>

RVO, 2019. SDE+ projecten in beheer. [Online]

Available at:

https://ez.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=6185c5a3392e457491b65e962a374 31c

[Accessed 10 10 2019].

RVO, 2019. Stimulering Duurzame Energieproductie (SDE+); Rijksdienst voor Ondernemend Nederland. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.rvo.nl/subsidie-en-financieringswijzer/stimulering-duurzameenergieproductie-sde</u>

[Accessed 05 10 2019].

Ryan, L. et al., 2016. Assessing the system and investor value of utility-scale solar PV. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, Issue 64, pp. 506-517.

Scheer, A. J., 2018. *Sunneklaas: de duivel van Ameland.* [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.nationalgeographic.nl/geschiedenis-en-cultuur/2018/07/sunneklaas-de-duivel-van-ameland</u> [Accessed 1 10 2019]. Sijtsma, F. J., Daams, M. N., Farjon, H. & Buijs, A. E., 2012. Deep feelings around a shallow coast. A spatial analysis of tourism jobs and theattractivity of nature in the Dutch Wadden area. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, Issue 68, pp. 138-148.

Skydive Ameland, 2014. Zienswijze aanvraag omgevingsvergunning door de gemeente Ameland, tot het oprichten van een zonnepark op het vliegveld, Ballum: Gemeente Ameland.

Slootweg, 2014 in van den Dikkenberg, 2014. Zonnestroom van landbouwgrond. *Reformatorisch dagblad*, 03 12, p. 2.

Slootweg, R., Vanclay, F. & Van Schooten, M., 2001. Function evaluation as a framework for the integration of social and environmental impact assessment. *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 19(1), pp. 19-28.

Smith, D. & Richards, J., 2015. Social License to Operate: Hydraulic FracturingRelated Challenges Facing the Oil & Gas Industry. *Oil and Gas, Natural Resources, and Energy Journal*, 1(2), pp. 81-163.

Smits, C. A., van Leeuwen, J. & van Tatenhove, J. P. M., 2017. Oil and gas development in Greenland: A social license to operate, trust and legitimacy in environmental governance. *Resources policy,* Issue 53, pp. 109-116.

Spoelstra, R., 2015. *Facebook page A de Jong*. [Online] [Accessed 19 11 2019].

Stichting OMA, 2014. Zienswijze zonnepark Ameland, Ballum: Gemeente Ameland.

Stichting OMA, 2015. ingezonden: Hoe een zonnepark op Ameland tot stand komt. *Persbureau Ameland*, 07 05.

Stoffelen, A., 2019. Disentangling the tourism sector's fragmentation: a hands-on coding/post-coding guide for interview and policy document analysis in tourism. *Current issues in Tourism*, 22(18), pp. 2197-2210.

Thomson, I. & Boutilier, R., 2018. *Measuring the Social License*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://socialicense.com/measure.html</u> [Accessed 16 09 2019].

Thomson, I. & Boutilier, R. G., 2011. *Modelling and measuring the social license to operate: Fruits of a dialogue between Theory and Practice*, s.l.: https://socialicense.com .

Thomson, I. & Boutilier, R. G., 2011. The Social License to Operate. . In: *SME Mining Engineering Handbook.* Littleton, Colorado: Society of Mining Metallurgy and Exploration, pp. 1779-1796,.

Thomson, I. & Joyce, S., 2008. THE SOCIAL LICENCE TO OPERATE: What it is and why does it seem so difficult to obtain?. Toronto, On Common Ground Consultants Inc..

Tuil, A., 2014. Raad Ameland akkoord met krediet zonnepark. Leeuwarder Courant, 30 04, p. 24.

Tuinenga (2018) in Zomerdijk, 2018. *Interview Masterthesis Weerstand tegen Zonneparken,* Groningen: Rijksuniversiteit Groningen.

UNESCO, 2019. *world heritage list: Discovery Coast Atlantic Forest Reserves*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://whc.unesco.org/en/list/892/</u>

United Nations, 2015. Paris Agreement, Paris: United Nations.

van de Biezenbos, K., 2018. The Rebirth of Social Licence. *McGill Journal of Sustainable Development Law*, 14(2), pp. 156-185.

van den Berg, J., 2017. Zes dagen per week knallen op Ameland: 'Dit is een klap in ons gezicht'. *De Volkskrant*, 13 08.

van den Eerenbeemt, M., 2018. 'Een confetti van windmolens en zonneparken dreigt Nederland te overspoelen.' Maar kan het ook anders?. *De Volkskrant*, 15 05. Available at: <u>https://www.volkskrant.nl/nieuws-achtergrond/een-confetti-van-windmolens-en-zonneparken-</u> <u>dreigt-nederland-te-overspoelen-maar-kan-het-ook-anders~b1b2e420/.</u>

van der Brink, B. & Nagtegaal, I., 2007. *Logboek van een vliegveld; 50 jaar vliegveld Ameland*. Ballum: Werkgroep 50 jaar vliegveld Ameland.

van der Ploeg, L. & Vanclay, F., 2017. A human rights based approach to project-induced displacement and resettlement. *Impact assessment and Project Appraissal*, 35(1), pp. 34-52.

van der Spek, A. J. F., 1996. Holocene depositional sequences in the Dutch Wadden Sea south of the island of Ameland. *Mededelingen Rijks Geologische Dienst*, pp. 41-68.

van der Voort, N. & Vanclay, F., 2015. Social impacts of earthquakes caused by gas extraction in the Province of Groningen, The Netherlands. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, pp. 1-15.

van der Woude, J., 2018. Beekdal wordt straks tranendal. *Leeuwarder Courant - editie Zuid*, 6 11, p. 18.

van Es, A., 2011. Het sintgeheim van Ameland: met knuppels jagen op vrouwen. de Volkskrant, 3 12.

van Laarhoven, K., 2019. Rijkswaterstaat wil nieuwe verbinding met Ameland, mogelijk tunnel. *NRC handelsblad*, 12 09.

van Loon, W., 2018. Testeiland voor schone energie. NRC Handelsblad, 31 07, p. 4.

van Maris, B., 2010. Op West-Ameland klinkt de 'ou' authentiek. NRC Handelsblad, 02 02.

van Ruiten, J., 2017. Ook duurzaamheid kent een prijs. *Dagblad van het Noorden - Editie Zuidoost-Drenthe*, 26 04, p. 34.

van Tiggelen, L., 2019. Interview Zonnepark Ameland [Interview] (11 07 2019).

van Tooren, B. & Krol, J., 2005. Een groen strand op Ameland. *De Levende Natuur*, 106(4), pp. 156-158.

Vanclay, F., 2002. Conceptualising social impacts. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 22(8), pp. 183-211.

Vanclay, F., 2017. Principles to gain a social licence to operate for green and biodiversity projects. *Current opinion in Environmental Sustainability,* Issue 29, pp. 48-56.

Vanclay, F., Baines, J. T. & Taylor, N., 2013. Principles for ethical research involving humans: ethical professional practice in impact assessment Part I. *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 31(4), pp. 243-253.

Vanclay, F., Estevez, A. M., Aucamp, I. & Franks, D. M., 2015. *Social Impact Assessment: Guidance for assessing and managing the social impacts of projects,* Fargo ND: International Association for Impact Assessment.

VANG, 2014. *Zienswijze tegen de ontwerp omgevingsvergunning en de ontwerpverklaring van geen,* Hollum: Gemeente Ameland .

Veltman, M., 2017. Hoe gevaarlijk is een biovergister?. *Leeuwarder Courant*, 8 06, pp. https://www.lc.nl/friesland/Hoe-gevaarlijk-is-een-biovergister-22271019.html .

VOF Het Zwanewater, 2014. Zienswijze op de voorlopige verklaring van geen bedenkingen en het ontwerp omgevingsvergunning Zonnepark Ameland , Hollum: Gemeente Ameland .

Vogelwachten Ameland, 2014. Zienswijze tegen de ontwerp omgevingsvergunning en de ontwerpverklaring van geen, Hollum: Gemeente Ameland.

VVV Ameland, 2019. Interview Solarpark Ameland [Interview] (03 05 2019).

VVV, 2019. Activiteiten kaart VVV Nederland. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.vvv.nl/nl/activiteitenkaart/vind-een-vvv</u> [Accessed 01 12 2019].

Waddenfonds, 2018. Besluit van het dagelijks bestuur van de gemeenschappelijke regeling Waddenfonds houdende nadere regels verstrekken subsidie lokale innovaties Subsidieregeling Budget Lokale Innovaties Waddenfonds 2018. [Online]

Available at:

http://decentrale.regelgeving.overheid.nl/cvdr/XHTMLoutput/Historie/Waddenfonds/609900/CVDR 609900\_3.html

[Accessed 07 11 2019].

Waddenfonds, 2019. ZONNE-COLLECTIEF AMELAND. [Online] Available at: <u>http://waddenfonds.nl/projecten/44/zonne-collectief-ameland/</u> [Accessed 08 10 2019].

Wiebes, E., 2017. *Kamerbrief: Stand van zaken hernieuwbare energieproductie (SDE+) 2017*, Den Haag: Ministerie van Economische Zaken en Klimaat, Directoraat-generaal Energie, Telecom & Mededinging; Directie Energiemarkt en Innovatie..

Wiebes, E., 2019. *Kabinetsreactie op het IBO Grondvergoeding Energievoorziening,* Den Haag: Ministerie van Economische Zaken en Klimaat.

Wijnberg, J., 2014. Zonnepark Ameland stapje dichterbij. *Persburo Ameland*, 26 08, pp. https://www.persbureau-ameland.nl/zonnepark-ameland-stapje-dichterbij.

Wijnberg, J. B., 2019. De koers van Ameland. Leeuwarder Courant, 25 09, p. 21.

Winsemius, P. & Hirsch Ballin, E. M. H., 2006. Wet ruimtelijke ordening, Den Haag: Rijksoverheid.

Yin, R. K., 1994. Case study research: Desing and methods. 2e ed. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage .

ZCA, 2014. Zienswijze aanleg zonnepanelenpark, Rijswijk: Gemeente Ameland.

ZCA, 2016. Ingezonden - Gemeente Ameland laat zweefvliegers in de kou staan. *Persbureau Ameland*, 05 07.

ZCA, 2019. Interview Zonnepark Aemland (telephone conversation) [Interview] (09 10 2019).

Zhang, A., Measham, T. G. & Moffat, K., 2018. Preconditions for social licence: The importance of information in initial engagement. *Journal of Cleaner Production,* Issue 172, pp. 1559-1566.

Zhang, A. & Moffat, K., 2015. A balancing act: the role of benefits, impacts and confidence in governance in predicting acceptance of mining in Australia. *Resources Policy*, Issue 44, pp. 25-34.

Zhang, A. et al., 2015. Understanding the social licence to operate of mining at the national scale: A comparative study of Australia, China and Chile.. *Journal of Cleaner production,* Issue 108 A, pp. 1063-1072.

Zomerdijk, T., 2018. *Weerstand tegen zonneparken: De rol van publieke participatie (Masterthesis),* Groningen: Rijksuniversteit Groningen.

